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         1                       P R O C E E D I N G S

         2       (Prior to this point in the proceedings, a portion of the 

         3        transcript [pages 1 to 4] was extracted and sealed under 

         4        separate cover as the session was heard in camera)

         5   MADAM PRESIDENT: Good morning, Witness F2. 

         6   THE WITNESS: Good morning. 

         7   MADAM PRESIDENT: In which language will you be testifying? 

         8   THE WITNESS: In French. 

         9   MADAM PRESIDENT: Because you are a protected witness, we will 

        10        not refer to you by name but by the pseudonym F2.  

        11        Before you begin your testimony, you are required to 

        12        take a sworn declaration to speak the truth, and this 

        13        declaration will now be administered to you by the 

        14        registry official, Mr. Matemanga.

        15         

        16            (Declaration made by the witness in French)

        17   MADAM PRESIDENT: Witness F2, we -- the Chamber has granted a 

        18        special request from counsel Mr. Biju-Duval for a 

        19        portion of your system to be given in closed session, 

        20        and we will now proceed into that closed session.  A 

        21        closed session means that you can speak freely with 

        22        regard to your identity and education, and so on, 

        23        because the public have been excluded from the 

        24        courtroom, and this portion of the testimony will be 

        25        kept under seal.

        26        

        27        Mr. Biju-Duval. 

        28   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Thank you, Madam President.

        29        

        30        (Pages 5 to 5 by Diane Hermann)

                              ICTR - TRIAL CHAMBER I

                                        5

          NAHIMANA ET AL                                  10 DECEMBER 2002

         1       (Extracted from page 26 onwards of the transcript)

         2   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         3        Witness F2, you should understand that the public will 

         4        enter the courtroom but you will not be visible to them, 

         5        but they will be able to hear you, and Mr. Biju-Duval 

         6        will now proceed to ask you questions on a different 

         7        area.

         8             

         9        You may begin, Mr. Biju-Duval. 

        10        

        11                      EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF (continued)

        12   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        13   Q.   Witness, I am going to begin with a general question in 

        14        order to publicly put in place your testimony. 

        15             

        16        Without further details, could you tell us whether you 

        17        were present at the National University of Rwanda at one 

        18        time or another between 1986 and 1994?

        19   A.   Yes.  I was present at the campus.

        20   Q.   Can you tell us, to your recollection, what were the 

        21        documents that were to be provided by people who wanted 

        22        to join the university, that is, to join the National 

        23        University of Rwanda?

        24   A.   Firstly there was an application for a scholarship, a 

        25        bursary, and that bursary was applied from the Ministry 

        26        of Primary and Secondary Education, and so there was a 

        27        form for the application of scholarship and there was an 

        28        application letter.  There were results or records and 

        29        then there were also communal attestations.

        30   Q.   What were those communal attestations?
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         1   A.   The communal attestations were attestations of good 

         2        conduct and morals, as well as an attestation of 

         3        complete identity.

         4   Q.   I would like the witness to once again be given the 

         5        document, and that he looks at pages 15 and 16. 

         6             

         7        Are you there, Witness?

         8   A.   Yes, I am.

         9   Q.   Can you tell us what is the document on page 15?

        10   A.   This is an attestation of good conduct and moral.

        11   Q.   And is it similar to the official document that you had 

        12        seen?

        13   A.   Yes.

        14   Q.   What about page 16?

        15   A.   On page 16, we have an attestation of full identity.

        16   Q.   Does this document contain entries concerning ethnic 

        17        groups?

        18   A.   Yes, there is an entry concerning ethnic groups.

        19   Q.   Is this document similar to the official document that 

        20        you saw?

        21   A.   Yes, it is.

        22   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        23        Madam President, I would like to tender this document as 

        24        1D-183. 

        25   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        26        These are in respect of Alphonsine again, are they?

        27   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        28        Yes.  I will ask that it should be placed under seal, as 

        29        well as the case for the earlier documents.

        30   MADAM PRESIDENT:
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         1        1D-182, Mr. Biju-Duval, or are we on 3?  183 under seal, 

         2        two pages?

         3   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         4        Yes, Madam President.

         5        

         6        (Defence Exhibit No. 183 was admitted)

         7        

         8   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         9   Q.   So to which authorities were these documents given?

        10   A.   These documents which consisted of application for 

        11        scholarship were submitted to the Ministry of Primary 

        12        and Secondary Education.

        13   Q.   When you talk about the application for bursary, do you 

        14        also include the attestation of good conduct, as well as 

        15        the attestation of full identity?

        16   A.   Yes.

        17   Q.   Subsequently, at any point in time or with regard to any 

        18        way whatsoever, were these documents, and in particular 

        19        the document mentioning ethnic group, were they 

        20        accessible to the lecturers of the university?

        21   A.   No, these documents were not accessible to them.  When 

        22        one obtained a scholarship one joined the university, 

        23        and the documents were kept by the general secretary of 

        24        the university.  So these documents were not at the 

        25        disposal of the lecturers.

        26   Q.   Now, with regard to the identification of the students, 

        27        what information was given to the faculty?

        28   A.   The information that was given to the faculty concerning 

        29        students consisted of names and first names; in other 

        30        words, it was a list of students admitted in the various 
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         1        departments, and those students were to be taught by the 

         2        lecturers and to be assessed by the lecturers.  So with 

         3        regard to such students, the lecturers had only names 

         4        and first names.

         5   Q.   Did it happen that list of students would be publicly 

         6        posted in the university premises?

         7   A.   To my knowledge, no. 

         8   Q.   With regard to the application for scholarship, when it 

         9        came to a positive response, was a special document 

        10        prepared?

        11   A.   When a student obtained a scholarship, there was a 

        12        document that each student had to sign attesting that 

        13        after his or her studies he would work for the 

        14        government.

        15   Q.   I would like to request you to look at pages 26 and 27 

        16        of the same document.  Are you there? 

        17   A.   Yes.

        18   Q.   What is this document?

        19   A.   Yes.  This is the document in question, and the heading 

        20        of this document is "Contract for Scholarship in 

        21        Rwanda."

        22   Q.   Is this document the same as the official document that 

        23        you had seen?

        24   A.   Yes, it is.

        25   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        26        Madam President, I would like to request that this 

        27        document be tendered as Exhibit 1D-184, and here I am 

        28        referring to pages 26 and 27 whose heading is 

        29        "Scholarship Contract in Rwanda", under seal. 

        30   MADAM PRESIDENT:
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         1        Mr. Biju-Duval, it is part of the bundle, is it? 

         2   MR. BIJU-DUVAL

         3        Yes, Madam President.

         4   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         5        Yes, so admitted

         6        

         7        (Defence Exhibit No. 184 was admitted)

         8   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         9   Q.   With regard to the granting of a scholarship, was there 

        10        a selection among the students admitted in the 

        11        university with regard to the granting of scholarships?

        12   A.   That was something that came under the ministry, and 

        13        since I was not working at the ministry I cannot answer 

        14        that question.

        15   Q.   To your knowledge, did all students admitted to the 

        16        university receive scholarships, or was it different, 

        17        was the situation different?

        18   A.   To my knowledge, all students who were admitted to the 

        19        university had a scholarship.

        20   Q.   I would now like you to go to a document 10, or rather, 

        21        pages 10, 11 -- let's go by steps.  Let's go first to 

        22        page 10 of that bundle. 

        23   A.   Yes, I have seen it.

        24   Q.   What is this document?

        25   A.   This is an arrival form.

        26   Q.   What is it?

        27   A.   This arrival form had to be filled in by all students 

        28        who were admitted to the university.

        29   Q.   On the top right-hand side, can you see a date?  What is 

        30        the date there?
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         1   A.   Yes.  The date there is the 13th of October 1984.

         2   Q.   Under the entry "deputy secretary general", can you see 

         3        a ticked box?  What does that mean?

         4   A.   Well, it shows "Rwandan government."  On top of that it 

         5        is written "sponsored student by the Rwandan 

         6        government."  It meant that the student in question was 

         7        being sponsored by the Government of Rwanda which 

         8        granted the student scholarship.

         9   Q.   Now, could you move on to page number 11.  Is this the 

        10        same kind of document?

        11   A.   Yes, it is practically the same thing.

        12   Q.   Can you tell us what the date is on the top right-hand 

        13        corner?

        14   A.   Yes.  12th of October 1987.

        15   Q.   Can you tell us whether on this document mention is made 

        16        of a scholarship being granted?

        17   A.   Yes.  Look at heading (a), "Deputy General Secretariat, 

        18        sponsored by the Government of Rwanda", that is why you 

        19        have a cross.

        20   Q.   Now can you go to number 12 -- 28, I beg your pardon.  

        21        Is it the same kind of document?

        22   A.   Yes, it is the same kind of document.

        23   Q.   Can you tell us what the date is on the top right-hand 

        24        corner?

        25   A.   Yes.  It is 8th of October 1988.

        26   Q.   Is mention made regarding the granting of a scholarship 

        27        to the holder of this document?

        28   A.   Yes, look at heading (a) "Deputy General Secretariat" 

        29        and under it you see "Sponsored by the Government of 

        30        Rwanda."
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         1   Q.   Now, let us move on to the next document.  Is this the 

         2        same kind of document?

         3   A.   Yes, it is the same kind of document.

         4   Q.   Will you tell us what the date is on the top right-hand 

         5        corner?

         6   A.   Yes.  It is the 4th of October 1986.

         7   Q.   Is mention made regarding scholarship?

         8   A.   Yes.  Under (a) you can see "Deputy General 

         9        Secretariat", and under (a) you can see "Sponsored by 

        10        the Government of Rwanda."

        11   Q.   Now, with regard to the holder of this document, that 

        12        is, the beneficiary, what conclusion can we draw 

        13        regarding the granting of scholarships?  What conclusion 

        14        can we draw on the basis of all these documents?  What 

        15        conclusions can you draw on the basis of these documents 

        16        regarding whether the person in question received a 

        17        scholarship for his or her studies?

        18   A.   The conclusion that one should draw is that, any student 

        19        admitted to the university received a bursary from the 

        20        Government of Rwanda.

        21   Q.   I did not ask you the question regarding all students.  

        22        Rather, I asked you the question in relation to the 

        23        holder of this document.

        24   A.   Well, what it means is that the holder of this document; 

        25        in other words, the persons who fill this document, and 

        26        in this question it was Alphonsine Kabagabo who was a 

        27        girl, she received a scholarship from the Government of 

        28        Rwanda. 

        29   Q.   And is it similar to the documents which you have seen?

        30   A.   Yes, it is.
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         1   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         2        Madam President, I would like to apply that we tender 

         3        these four documents whose heading is "Arrival Form" 

         4        under number 1D-185.

         5   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         6        These four pages will be marked as 1D-185, under seal.

         7        

         8        (Defence Exhibit No. 185 was admitted)

         9        

        10   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        11   Q.   Witness, I do not think you mentioned this.  Let me ask 

        12        you the question concerning the attestation of identity 

        13        which you talked about.  What came under "ethnic group"?

        14   A.   Tutsi.

        15   Q.   Did the other document we examined concern the same 

        16        person, or somebody else?

        17   A.   The other documents we examined concerned the same 

        18        person.

        19   Q.   As far as you know, was Ferdinand Nahimana one of those 

        20        lecturers?

        21   A.   Yes.  Ferdinand Nahimana was one of those lecturers.

        22   Q.   To your knowledge, if you have any knowledge, what was 

        23        the rank of the holder of that document amongst the 

        24        classmates?

        25   A.   The marks were good, and she was amongst the first three 

        26        or the best three of the class.

        27   Q.   Did she obtain her first degree, to your knowledge?

        28   A.   Yes, she obtained her first degree.

        29   Q.   Did she have any distinction?

        30   A.   Yes, she did — highest distinction.
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         1   Q.   I would like Document No. 1 of the bundle to be given to 

         2        the witness.  Do you have it?

         3   A.   Yes.

         4   Q.   And what is this document?

         5   A.   "To whom it may concern."  This is an attestation which 

         6        represents a diploma. 

         7   Q.   What is mentioned in it?

         8   A.   The identification of the person, the person's identity, 

         9        the faculty where the person studied, the department, 

        10        and the distinction, and the distinction is "grand 

        11        distinction."

        12   Q.   Does this concern the person you just talked about?

        13   A.   Yes, the same person.

        14   Q.   Madam President, last question.  

        15        

        16        Is this document what you remember to be the official 

        17        document that you saw?

        18   A.   Yes.

        19   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        20        Madam President, I would like to tender this document, 

        21        under seal, as Exhibit 1D-186 and I would describe it as 

        22        an attestation for diploma.

        23   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        24        1D-186 under seal.

        25        

        26        (Defence Exhibit No. 186 was admitted)

        27        

        28   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        29   Q.   Witness, as far as you know, did other Tutsi students 

        30        who attended Professor Nahimana's lectures perform in 
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         1        the same manner?

         2   A.   Yes.

         3   Q.   Let me be more precise, because when I say "course of 

         4        study" it's not very clear what was similar in their 

         5        attainment.

         6   A.   The marks.

         7   Q.   Do you have any examples?

         8   A.   Yes, one.

         9   Q.   Could you give us that example.

        10        

        11        If you are afraid that that could -- could you indicate 

        12        it in writing?

        13   A.   Yes, in writing.

        14   Q.   Could Mr. Matemanga give the witness a piece of paper 

        15        and something to write with.

        16             

        17        Witness, could you once again refer to Documents No. 22 

        18        and 24 which are now Exhibit 1D-181 -- make that 182, 

        19        I'm sorry.  

        20   A.   What documents, please?

        21   Q.   Documents or page no. 22 and page No. 24 of the bundle. 

        22   A.   Twenty-two?  I don't have a page 22.

        23   Q.   You had it a while ago?

        24   A.   I do not have page 22.

        25   Q.   Page 22 of the bundle that you examined earlier.  It 

        26        might have been taken away as Exhibit 1D-182. 

        27   A.   Very well.

        28   Q.   Can you briefly tell us what it is about?

        29   A.   It is a deliberation record.

        30   Q.   Thank you.  And for Document No. 24, which is also part 
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         1        of Exhibit 1D-182 that I believe has been given to you?

         2   A.   It is also a deliberation record.

         3   Q.   Thank you.  Does this document -- I'm sorry.  Let me 

         4        rephrase my question.  

         5        

         6        What conclusions can we draw from these documents 

         7        regarding the name of the student you have just 

         8        mentioned?

         9   A.   It can be concluded that that student who was a Tutsi 

        10        had the -- had the best marks in a course taught by 

        11        Ferdinand Nahimana.

        12   Q.   Thank you.  How did results of examinations, how were 

        13        the results of examinations made known to students?

        14   A.   The lecturer, who had given a piece of work to the 

        15        students, after correcting the papers he gave the papers 

        16        back to those concerned; that is, the students.

        17   Q.   Were results posted?

        18   A.   At the Ruhengeri campus results were not posted, but at 

        19        the end of the year the deliberation records were posted 

        20        at the faculty office.

        21   Q.   Did that document have any indication of the ethnic 

        22        group?

        23   A.   No.

        24   Q.   I am going to ask you a very general question, to put 

        25        your testimony in context.  Give me a simple short 

        26        answer which does not reveal your identity.

        27             

        28        First question: Do you know the date when Mr. Nahimana 

        29        was appointed at ORINFOR, the approximate date?

        30   A.   Mr. Ferdinand Nahimana was appointed director of the 
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         1        office rwandais de l'information towards the end of 

         2        December 1990.

         3   Q.   Do you remember when he ceased to exercise the duties?

         4   A.   I think April 1992, around that period.

         5   Q.   Were you in one way or another present at the National 

         6        University of Rwanda before he was appointed at the 

         7        office rwandais de l'information?

         8   A.   Before the appointment of Ferdinand Nahimana at the 

         9        office rwandais de l'information --

        10   Q.   I am asking you simply in a very general manner.  You 

        11        could answer "yes" or "no."  If you were in any way 

        12        present at the university, without any details, before 

        13        that date?

        14   A.   In a way, yes.

        15   Q.   Were you in any way present at the National University 

        16        of Rwanda after Ferdinand Nahimana left ORINFOR?

        17   A.   Yes.

        18   Q.   Did you notice any change in Ferdinand Nahimana's 

        19        behaviour towards students or towards lecturers between 

        20        those two periods?

        21   A.   Between those two periods, I did not notice any change, 

        22        as far as Ferdinand Nahimana is concerned.  I repeat:  

        23        as far as Ferdinand Nahimana is concerned.

        24   Q.   Now during those two periods, as far as you remember, 

        25        did he have any hostile conduct, or did he say anything 

        26        hostile or even unpleasant about Tutsis or people from 

        27        regions other than his because of their ethnic or 

        28        regional origin?

        29   A.   During those two periods, he did not say anything 

        30        hostile concerning people who came from other regions or 
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         1        other ethnic groups.

         2   Q.   To your recollection, did Professor Nahimana take these 

         3        ethnic and regional considerations into account when he 

         4        awarded marks to students?

         5   A.   No, he did not take these regional and ethnic 

         6        considerations into account.

         7   Q.   During these two periods, were you aware of any 

         8        complaints from students or members of staff or even 

         9        from people outside the university concerning Ferdinand 

        10        Nahimana?

        11   A.   I did not hear of any complaints against Ferdinand 

        12        Nahimana.

        13   Q.   As far as you can remember, what was Ferdinand 

        14        Nahimana's reputation amongst the students, and if his 

        15        reputation changed depending on the period?  Please 

        16        indicate that.

        17   A.   Amongst students, he had a good reputation.

        18   Q.   Meaning?

        19   A.   Meaning that he was held in esteem by the students as a 

        20        result of his lectures.

        21   Q.   What about the lecturers?

        22   A.   As far as the lecturers are concerned, before he was 

        23        appointed to the office rwandais de l'information the 

        24        relations were good, I would say they were even very 

        25        good.  But when he left ORINFOR, or even when he was 

        26        still at ORINFOR, there was suspicion or distrust from 

        27        some lecturers, not all lecturers.  We started noticing 

        28        some suspicion by some lecturers towards Ferdinand 

        29        Nahimana.

        30        (Pages 27 to 39 by Karlene Ruddock)
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         1        1100H

         2   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         3   Q.   How many lecturers would you say were suspicious of 

         4        Ferdinand Nahimana or distrusted him?

         5   A.   Four or five.

         6   Q.   As far as you could know, what were the reasons why 

         7        those lecturers adopted that attitude?

         8   A.   Well, let me say that their suspicion or distrust 

         9        started at the time he was appointed director of the 

        10        Office Rwanda de La informacion shown and when he was 

        11        reintegrated in the university.  As to the reasons, when 

        12        he was appointed director of ORINFOR some lecturers 

        13        said, "why not me?"  And that "why not me" subsequently 

        14        led to this suspicion or distrust or a type of jealousy.  

        15        That is reason number 1.  

        16        

        17        Secondly, in the meantime, with the signing of the 

        18        constitution or should I say the law which set up 

        19        multipartyism, political parties were set up and with 

        20        the setting up of these multiparties there was a 

        21        struggle for every person to have a precision and, as 

        22        such, some lecturers found in him a rival, so they could 

        23        not be -- have good relations with other people who were 

        24        in different parties like PSD, MDR. 

        25        

        26        Thirdly, there was a war; because, in the meantime, 

        27        there had been war and some lecturers said that the 

        28        regime had to change at all costs, even if weapons had 

        29        to be used.  So they were clearly in favour of war to 

        30        overthrow the regime, and it turned out that Ferdinand 
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         1        did not belong to that group.  So, those were the three 

         2        reasons which led to suspicion and distrust by some 

         3        lecturers of or towards Ferdinand Nahimana.

         4   MADAM PRESIDENT: Mr. Biju-Duval, we'll take a break now, and 

         5        we'll mark the handwritten document as 1D187 under seal. 

         6        (Exhibit No. 1D187 was admitted)

         7        We'll be taking a short break of 15 minutes. 

         8        (Recess from 1305 to 1328)

         9   MADAM PRESIDENT: Monsieur Duval. 

        10   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: I thank you, Madam President. 

        11        Madam President, thanks to the break we realised that 

        12        there was a little logistic problem.  There was a sheet 

        13        which was supposed to be part of 1D185, which was not 

        14        there.  That was the arrival form which was included in 

        15        1D185 and one of those that are our forms apparently was 

        16        not amongst those that were filed.  We located a copy, 

        17        which we forwarded to each of the parties, and I would 

        18        like, now, to correct the exhibit by including that 

        19        sheet through the witness.

        20   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL: 

        21   Q.   Instead of five pages 1D185 contains only four, whereas 

        22        we had five.

        23   MADAM PRESIDENT: Yes, we are following you, Mr. Biju-Duval.

        24   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:  So I would like Mr. Matemanga to give the 

        25        witness that additional document.

        26   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: 

        27   Q.   As you did earlier, can you tell us what that is all 

        28        about and read out to us the date and please do not 

        29        mention the name that appears there.

        30   A.   This is an arrival form of the 5th of October, 1983.
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         1   Q.   And what is said about the granting of the scholarship?

         2   A.    Under A, deputy secretary general's office one 

         3        scholarship holder of the Rwandan government.

         4   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Thank you.  Madam President, I would like 

         5        that document to be included in the bundle of 1D185.

         6   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL: 

         7   Q.   Witness, just before the break you spoke about the 

         8        attitude of certain lecturers with respect to 

         9        Mr. Nahimana after the appointment of Mr. Nahimana as 

        10        the director of ORINFOR.  Now, inversely, could you tell 

        11        us what was the conduct of Ferdinand Nahimana in 

        12        relation to other lecturers at the university from that 

        13        particular time and, in particular, in relation to some 

        14        lecturers whose attitude, according to your testimony, 

        15        had changed?

        16   A.   From what I noticed, I noticed that Ferdinand Nahimana, 

        17        particularly after his reinstatement, tried to get 

        18        closer to those lecturers.  He tried to get close to 

        19        them, he tried to hold discussions with them; however, 

        20        he was not well-received by those lecturers.  So his 

        21        efforts were not really well-received by those 

        22        lecturers.

        23   Q.   When you talk about "those lecturers" are you talking 

        24        about all the lecturers or are you talking about some of 

        25        the lecturers to whom you referred before the break?

        26   A.   Yes, I am talking about some lecturers to whom I 

        27        referred before the break.

        28   Q.   Did he have a hostile, critical, or unpleasant attitude 

        29        towards Tutsi lecturers or lecturers who were natives of 

        30        other regions, that is other than his native region?
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         1   A.   No, I never saw this attitude and at this point maybe I 

         2        could give some examples.  During the 1992-'93 year 

         3        Ferdinand Nahimana participated in dissertation panels, 

         4        he even chaired or, rather, guided dissertations and in 

         5        doing so he did not take into account ethnic or regional 

         6        considerations; that is my first point.  My second point 

         7        is that he participated in panels during that particular 

         8        time, that is 1992-'93, he participated in panels and 

         9        those panels were composed of lecturers who were of 

        10        diverse ethnic and regional origins.

        11   Q.   To your knowledge did Ferdinand Nahimana carry out 

        12        research work jointly with Tutsi lecturers or lecturers 

        13        who hailed from the centre or the north of the country?

        14   A.   Yes, he jointly published with Tutsi lecturers, as well 

        15        as lecturers who came from the south, work he published 

        16        certain documents.  I can give you an example.  In 

        17        1980-'85 he published in collaboration with Rwegera 

        18        Damien a book titled (French) "Rwandan and Germans".  In 

        19        1988, in collaboration with 

        20        Professor Laurent Nkusi and Ndekezi (phonetic) and Otto 

        21        Godfund (phonetic) they published a document jointly and 

        22        the heading of that document was the (French) that is 

        23        "Yesterday on Marginalised and Disfavoured Groups".  So 

        24        this work, too, was published jointly with those 

        25        professors.  I could also mention the fact that 

        26        professor Laurent Nkusi is Tutsi and he comes from 

        27        Butare.  Professor Rwegera Damien is a Tutsi, too, and 

        28        he comes from Butare.  So this illustrates that he 

        29        jointly published academic work with lecturers who were 

        30        Tutsis and all who originally came from the south.
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         1   MS. KAGWI: Your Honours, just one reservation.  Can the 

         2        witness, as he has been doing, just spell the names?

         3   MADAM PRESIDENT: Will you just spell those last mentioned 

         4        names, please?

         5   THE WITNESS: Yes, I spoke of Rwegera, R-W-E-G-E-R-A  Rwegera.  

         6        Nkusi is spelt N-K-U-S-I.

         7   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: 

         8   Q.   You talked about Professor Ndekezi, could you spell his 

         9        name?

        10   A.   Ndekezi was not a lecturer, Ndekezi was a priest.  

        11        Ndekezi is spelled N-D-E-K-E-Z-I.

        12   Q.   And to which ethnic group did he belong?

        13   A.   He was a Tutsi.

        14   Q.   To your knowledge did Ferdinand Nahimana show any ethnic 

        15        or regional preference in his choice of research 

        16        subjects assigned to students?

        17   A.   No, he did not show any regional or ethnic characters or 

        18        preference, as I said.  He oversaw dissertations, for 

        19        instance Ngirishupi, Fredrick (sic).  Ngirishupi is 

        20        spelled N-G-I-R-I-S-H-U-P-I Ngirishupi, David (phonetic) 

        21        and work was done on Abshugi (phonetic) lineage and he 

        22        supervised that dissertation.  He also supervised a 

        23        dissertation on the Bagogwe and that memoir was written 

        24        by Hakuzimana.  Hakuzimana is spelled 

        25        H-A-K-U-Z-I-M-A-N-A, so one can observe that he did not 

        26        have ethnic preference because you had Twas, research on 

        27        Bagogwes.  Now, with regard to the original perspective, 

        28        he supervised the Ibigi linage Ibigi, I-B-I-G-I, Ibigi, 

        29        starting with Ibigi and this is an area -- this is 

        30        something that took place in Cyangugu, which is nowhere 
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         1        in the north of the country.  So from these examples you 

         2        can see that he did not have ethnic preferences or 

         3        favouritism.  So to answer your question he did not take 

         4        into account ethnic or regional considerations when it 

         5        came to the choice of research subjects.

         6   Q.   Now, with respect to the research conducted by 

         7        Ferdinand Nahimana was this in the same case or was it 

         8        different?

         9   A.   It might be a unit of the same thing because if you look 

        10        at his work and you can look, for instance, at documents 

        11        he published in 1987, (French) meaning "The White Man 

        12        Has Arrived and the King Has Left". 

        13        

        14        In 1988 he also published a work headed --  (French) 

        15        "Let Us Be Aware, Let Us Be Conscious" and later he 

        16        published (French) "Rwanda the Emergence of a Strife".  

        17        So at that level you already see that there is a 

        18        diversification.

        19   Q.   Was Ferdinand Nahimana involved in political activities 

        20        at the National University of Rwanda?

        21   A.   I never saw Ferdinand Nahimana involved in political 

        22        activities at the university.

        23   Q.   Were there public political meetings on the campus?

        24   A.   No.

        25   Q.   Were the Interahamwes present on the campus?

        26   A.   There were no Interahamwes on the campus.

        27   Q.   Witness F2, what was your professional occupation from 

        28        1989 and here I'd like you to tell the Court only 

        29        activities between 1989 and 1991, without mentioning in 

        30        a specific manner the relevant departments.
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         1   A.   During that period I was...
         2   Q.   Do not mention the department, but in which organisation 

         3        were you…?

         4   A.   …
         5        ….
         6   Q.   I would request you not to give specific dates because 

         7        this date is on the confidential document submitted at 

         8        the beginning of today's hearing but could you simply 

         9        tell us whether ….the 

        10        appointment of Ferdinand Nahimana as the director of 

        11        ORINFOR?

        12   A.   …
        13   Q.   ...

        14   A.   (By order of the Court this portion has been extracted)

        15   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:  Madam President, I would like to request 

        16        that the identification of other candidates who have 

        17        been referred to by the witness be put under seal 

        18        because he indicated that he had met the candidates at a 

        19        certain place and I think this could lead to his 

        20        identification, so I would like to request that this 

        21        specific information concerning other candidates be put 

        22        under seal.

        23   MADAM PRESIDENT: So, what, exactly, do you want to have 

        24        placed under seal, because he didn't mention names?

        25   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: He did not mention names, however, he said 

        26        that he was with them at the university and this appears 

        27        to me to be dangerous, when it comes to his anonymity.

        28   MADAM PRESIDENT: All right, the reference to the words you 

        29        just gave will be placed under seal.

        30   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL: 

                              ICTR - TRIAL CHAMBER I

                                        46

          NAHIMANA ET AL                                  10 DECEMBER 2002

         1   Q.   To your knowledge, during the period …
         2        could the director of ORINFOR directly recruit 

         3        staff members without going through the procedure which 

         4        you have described to us?

         5   A.   He could not do that.  He could not do that because 

         6        there is a rule governing public bodies such as ORINFOR 

         7        and that regulation stipulated that the director had to 

         8        go through that procedure.

         9   Q.   …, did that regulation -- was that 

        10        regulation changed after or following Nahimana's 

        11        appointment as director of ORINFOR?

        12   A.   No.

        13   Q.   Who was the director of ORINFOR …
        14       … ?

        15   A.   The director of ORINFOR was Mr. Christophe Mfizi.

        16   Q.   How did Nahimana's appointment as the director of 

        17        ORINFOR -- how was it perceived by members of staff of 

        18        ORINFOR in general and by journalists, in particular?

        19   A.   His appointment was well-received and he -- I'm talking 

        20        about the departments for which I worked, so his 

        21        appointment was well-received and the reason is that in 

        22        …, for example, 

        23        there were posts of people who were journalists who had 

        24        left and those posts were not frozen, so these gaps 

        25        caused problems and hampered the smooth running of the 

        26        department.  So when the journalists working in the 

        27        department heard that a new director had been appointed, 

        28        they said that maybe the new director is going to fill 

        29        in the gaps, solve the problem.  So on the basis of that 

        30        point his appointment at least, and I put this at least 
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         1        …, his appointment was well received.

         2   Q.   What was the feeling expressed by ORINFOR staff members 

         3        and journalists, in particular, …, 

         4        with regard to the previous director, Mr. Mfizi?

         5   A.   I've just underlined this.  There was this problem 

         6        whereby posts were left vacant after people left and in 

         7        other words those posts had not been filled in, so this 

         8        problem was there and this problem was prejudicial to 

         9        the smooth running of the department.  This is the first 

        10        problem. 

        11        

        12        The second problem was a problem of censorship, which 

        13        was very serious, and the third problem was, rather, 

        14        under the previous director where it was noticed that 

        15        the journalism practice was the office journalism, 

        16        whereby journalists did not go on the ground to actually 

        17        gather information, meet people, interview people in 

        18        order to understand how people viewed things and what 

        19        people thought and so on and so forth.  These are the 

        20        three points which, at this point, I can highlight.

        21   Q.   After the appointment of Ferdinand Nahimana as the 

        22        director of ORINFOR…?

        23   A.   ...

        24   Q.   To your knowledge, what was the procedure used in 

        25        promotions?

        26   A.   Promotions were carried out taking into account 

        27        competence.

        28   Q.   I'm not asking the criteria, I'm asking you about the 

        29        procedure?

        30   A.   The procedure used was that the director would make 
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         1        proposals made to the board of directors and the board 

         2        of directors would endorse the proposals made by the 

         3        director.

         4   Q.   On what basis did the director make his proposals?  How 

         5        did the director identify candidates for promotion?

         6   A.   The director had his advisers and those advisers were 

         7        heads of departments, and the heads of departments met 

         8        in order to put forward proposals regarding promotion of 

         9        specific journalists.

        10   Q.   …, from the time when Ferdinand 

        11        Nahimana was appointed director, were journalists 

        12        recruited to join…?

        13   A.   Personally, I did not see new journalists; however, I 

        14        have …names in my head,……) 

        15        …
        16        …
        17        …  I don't know when those journalists 

        18        were recruited.  I don't know whether they were 

        19        recruited before the appointment of Ferdinand Nahimana 

        20        to ORINFOR or after his appointment.

        21   Q.   Could you please spell the names?

        22   A.   (By order of the Court this portion has been extracted 

        23        and filed under seal)

        24   Q.   Do you remember whether they were recruited before or 

        25        after Ferdinand Nahimana's appointment?

        26   A.   I don't remember well whether they were recruited after 

        27        Ferdinand Nahimana's appointment or before.

        28   Q.   To your knowledge, after the appointment of 

        29        Ferdinand Nahimana, were journalists dismissed from 

        30        …?
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         1   A.   No.

         2   Q.   To your knowledge, after Ferdinand Nahimana's 

         3        appointment were there any recruitments or dismissals 

         4        within the department of different services of the 

         5        written press and radio?

         6   A.   Dismissals, I know of none.  What I know is that there 

         7        were permutations.

         8   Q.   As far as recruitment is concerned, that is getting 

         9        somebody from outside ORINFOR into ORINFOR?

        10   A.   …, apart from 

        11        the  … names which I already gave, there was no 

        12        recruitment.

        13   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, I would like the four names 

        14        mentioned by the witness to be placed under seal because 

        15        they relate...

        16   MADAM PRESIDENT: But he has not specified which department, 

        17        has he?

        18   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:  Yes, that is the difficulty.  He said that 

        19          …, so that raises a problem.

        20   MADAM PRESIDENT: Names of the journalists mentioned will be 

        21        placed under seal.

        22   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        23   Q.   Was the same person in charge  … before and 

        24        after Ferdinand Nahimana's arrival or was a new person 

        25        appointed?

        26   A.   There was a proposal of new appointees.  They were 

        27        proposed to the board of directors of ORINFOR:  The 

        28        proposals were made by the office of the director.

        29   Q.   Were those proposals accepted?

        30   A.   Yes, they were accepted.
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         1   Q.   Now, could you please write down the name of the person 

         2        who was appointed?

         3   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:  Mr. Matemanga, could you give the witness a 

         4        piece of paper?

         5   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL: 

         6   Q.   Did that person come from the same region as 

         7        Ferdinand Nahimana?

         8   A.   No, the person comes from Gitarama.

         9   Q.   To your knowledge was there any recruitment or promotion 

        10        of people from the same commune as Nahimana at ORINFOR?

        11   A.   No.

        12   Q.   Does that hold for the entire period… 

        13        …after the appointment of Ferdinand Nahimana?

        14   A.   For the entire period.

        15   Q.   Now, the transfers you refer to or the recruitments, 

        16        were they carried out officially or unofficially on the 

        17        basis of ethnic or regional considerations during the 

        18        period when Mr. Nahimana was director of ORINFOR?

        19   A.   There were no regional or ethnic considerations.  I just 

        20        gave the example of somebody who was promoted to the 

        21        position of service head and that person did not come 

        22        from the same préfecture as the director.  I could 

        23        provide other examples.

        24   Q.   Witness?

        25   A.   Yes.

        26   Q.   Are you familiar with the regional information centres?

        27   A.   Yes.

        28   Q.   Could you briefly tell the Chamber what this was?

        29   A.   These were centres which were located in the various 

        30        préfectures and the head of that centre had the same 
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         1        level as the service head and the person represented 

         2        ORINFOR within the préfecture and he was responsible for 

         3        providing information to both the print media and the 

         4        radio.

         5   Q.   Being at the head of a regional information centre, was 

         6        that considered as an important position in the 

         7        functioning or the running of the institution?

         8   A.   Yes, the position was even very important.

         9   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, before I forget I would like 

        10        to tender as an exhibit, Exhibit 1D188, the name that 

        11        the witness has just written on a piece of paper.

        12   MADAM PRESIDENT: Yes, that has been marked now, Monsieur 

        13        Biju-Duval.

        14        (Exhibit No. 1D188 was admitted)

        15   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:  Understood.

        16   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: 

        17   Q.   Could you write down the name of the editor in chief of 

        18        the service…?

        19   A.   (COMPLYING).

        20   Q.   As far as you know, who was the director of ORINFOR who 

        21        proposed that person for that post?

        22   A.   Before Ferdinand Nahimana was appointed, the person who 

        23        was proposed for the position of service head was the 

        24        person who was editor in chief.  And after Ferdinand was 

        25        appointed, that post became occupied by a lady -- a 

        26        woman whose name appears on the paper and it is 

        27        Ferdinand Nahimana who proposed that lady for that post.

        28   Q.   As concerns the regional information centres, were there 

        29        any appointments to the head of those centres during the 

        30        period when Ferdinand Nahimana was director of ORINFOR?
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         1   A.   Yes, there were appointments.

         2   Q.   Could you mention those you are aware of, provide the 

         3        name, the region, and the ethnic group of those who were 

         4        appointed?

         5   A.   In writing?

         6   Q.   No, I do not think.

         7   A.   So you mean I could say them out?

         8   Q.   Yes, unless you have any specific concern.  But those 

         9        regional information centres were known by everybody at 

        10        the time.

        11   A.   Yes. 

        12   Q.   So I do not think that any information that you provide 

        13        today would make it possible to identify you when you 

        14        talk about them.

        15   A.   Well, then, the regional information centres, let me 

        16        start with the Gikongoro regional information centre.  

        17        Gikongoro is spelled G-I-K-0-N-G-O-R-O.  That regional 

        18        information centre was given to Emmanual Nsabimana, who 

        19        was a Tutsi from Cyangugu. 

        20        

        21        The Kibuye regional information centre was given to a 

        22        certain Fatel Nkabanza (phonetic) whose mother was a 

        23        Tutsi and he hailed from Butare. 

        24        

        25        The Ruhengeri regional information centre was given to 

        26        Jean-Baptiste Hakizimana.  Hakizimana is spelled 

        27        H-A-K-I-Z-I-M-A-N-A.  He was a Hutu from Gisenyi. 

        28        

        29        The Byumba regional information centre was given to 

        30        Flora Kapayana and Flora Kapayana hailed from Gisenyi  
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         1        and was Hutu. Kapayana is spelled K-A-P-A-Y-A-N-A.

         2   Q.   Thank you. 

         3   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:  Before I proceed I would like the written 

         4        document or the document which the witness just wrote to 

         5        be tendered as 1D189.

         6   MADAM PRESIDENT: 1D189 under seal.

         7             (Exhibit No. 1D189 was admitted)

         8     MR. BIJU-DUVAL:  There's a problem of translation of the 

         9        document, English French are contradictory.  "Before" 

        10        was translated as "after".

        11   MADAM PRESIDENT: Well, I'll amend it here.  The translation, 

        12        the second line "after" should be "before".

        13   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL: 

        14   Q.   During the period …did 

        15        you know Habimana, Kantano?

        16   A.   Yes, I know him.

        17   Q.   Were you aware of his duties?

        18   A.   He was a journalist with Imvaho. Imvaho is spelled 

        19        I-M-V-A-H-O, that was a weekly which was published in 

        20        Kinyarwanda.

        21   Q.   At the time, talking about his professional qualities, 

        22        how was he considered by his colleagues and his senior 

        23        officials?

        24   A.   He was considered as a competent journalist.

        25   Q.   Let me now ask you a question which does not refer to 

        26        any period in particular.  The question is as follows: 

        27        Did you, at one point or another during your existence, 

        28        become aware of a group of persons who called themselves 

        29        Allo, A-L-L-O?

        30   A.   No.
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         1   Q.   As concerns the organisation of the service, I mean the 

         2        organisation of the work of journalists, did you notice 

         3        any changes between the manner of work of the previous 

         4        and the new head?

         5   A.   I could mention, two, that I personally noticed with the 

         6        appointment of the new director.  We witnessed freedom 

         7        of journalists.  That was the first difference. 

         8        

         9        Secondly, with the new leadership, with the new 

        10        director, we started practical journalism, journalism in 

        11        the field, which means that journalists actually went 

        12        out to interview people, which was lacking in the 

        13        previous leadership.

        14   Q.   Could you be more precise when you speak about freedom 

        15        of journalists?  What did that mean to you?

        16   A.   When I say freedom of journalist, let me say a little 

        17        more about how we worked. 

        18        

        19        At the bottom of the ladder were the journalists.  The 

        20        journalists prepared the articles and gave the articles 

        21        to those responsible of either Imvaho or La Rèleve and 

        22        these people responsible for Imvaho or La Rèleve, 

        23        therefore I do prepare the paper, look for pictures, and 

        24        it goes without saying the correction of the article.  

        25        When there were problems with the article, the article 

        26        could be sent to the next officer, who was the editor in 

        27        chief.  Under Director Mfizi he insisted that he wanted 

        28        himself to see those articles, but when Nahimana came 

        29        journalists were made responsible because, if my memory 

        30        serves me correctly, I do not remember if there was an 
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         1        article which went beyond the editor in chief to the 

         2        director.  That is what I refer to as freedom of 

         3        journalists.

         4   Q.   Did you notice any change or continuity as concerns 

         5        journalist access to information?

         6   A.   There, too, I noticed differences, especially that when 

         7        important events had to be covered it was the director 

         8        himself who went with his journalists; so he made up a 

         9        team.  There was no director, there was no journalist, 

        10        there was a team of journalists, including the director, 

        11        and that was good for access to information.

        12        (Pages 40 to 56 by R. Lear)

        13        

        14        

        15        

        16        

        17        

        18        

        19        

        20        
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         1        1230H

         2   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         3   Q.   What feelings were expressed by the journalists of 

         4        ORINFOR, to your knowledge, during the October 1990 

         5        conflict? 

         6   A.   I would say it was a feeling of shock, and the 

         7        journalists came together to explain to people at the 

         8        national and international levels what the attack was 

         9        all about. 

        10   Q.   Could you be clearer as to how the war phenomenon was 

        11        followed by ORINFOR journalists? 

        12   A.   The phenomenon was followed through field trips, that 

        13        is, accompanying the soldiers to see what was happening 

        14        in the field; and after the field trip, the journalists 

        15        prepared articles which had to be published in the print 

        16        media or articles that had to be read on Radio Rwanda or 

        17        sent abroad. 

        18   Q.   During the period … and 

        19        as from October 1990, what term, what name or what 

        20        expression was used to describe the aggressor? 

        21   A.   RPF Inkotanyi or Inyenzi Inkotanyi.  There was even -- 

        22        there were people who talked about Inyenzi Inkotanyi  

        23        and NRA.

        24   Q.   Now, could the word Inyenzi be used on its own? 

        25   A.   Yes, it could. 

        26   Q.   In the government press, as far as you are aware, what 

        27        was meant by the expression Inyenzi Inkotanyi during 

        28        that period? 

        29   A.   During that period, Inyenzi Inkotanyi referred to the 

        30        group of people who had attacked the country from 
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         1        Uganda. 

         2   Q.   Still during that period, within the government press, 

         3        what did the word Inyenzi on its own mean? 

         4   A.   Inyenzi referred to people who were part of that group 

         5        which had attacked Rwanda but who had belonged to the 

         6        former Tutsi rebellion of 1963 to 1965. 

         7   Q.   To your knowledge, referring to the same period, were -- 

         8        was there any reference to accomplices of the aggressor, 

         9        and if so, what was said in Kinyarwanda? 

        10   A.   Mention was made of Ibyitso. 

        11   Q.   In the government press during that period, what exactly 

        12        did the word accomplice or Ibyitso mean?

        13   A.   These were people who had been infiltrators and who were 

        14        working with the group which had attacked the country 

        15        while living inside the country. 

        16   Q.   Still using the same period of reference, these 

        17        different expressions, Inyenzi Inkotanyi, Inyenzi, 

        18        Ibyitso, or accomplice, were these expressions used by 

        19        the government press, also, to directly or indirectly 

        20        refer to the Tutsi population as a whole?

        21   A.   No.  As far as I know, these terms were used to refer to 

        22        the group which had attacked the country from Uganda.  

        23        It had nothing to do with the Tutsi group within the 

        24        country, but the Tutsi group within the country, within 

        25        the first few months, that group also condemned the 

        26        attacks. 

        27   Q.   How -- what was the nature of this condemnation? 

        28   A.   Letters of support to President Habyarimana.  In fact, 

        29        if I remember well, there is a letter which was 

        30        published in La Rèleve, if my memory doesn't fail me, 
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         1        and that letter had been signed by the group of Tutsis 

         2        who were working at the ministry of industry and 

         3        craftsmanship at the time, and they were condemning the 

         4        attack and supporting the president of the republic.  

         5        That letter appeared in La Rèleve.

         6   Q.   You spoke about the concept of accomplice or Ibyitso.  

         7        Personally, did you make an investigation regarding the 

         8        phenomenon related to this concept?

         9   A.   Yes.  In the month of October there were prisoners of 

        10        war who were captured at the front line, and when they 

        11        arrived in Kigali, journalists were invited in order to 

        12        interview them and ask them questions regarding the 

        13        nature and the composition of their group.  And I 

        14        remember very well …who 

        15        interviewed them, and …the Nyamirambo brigade 

        16        in order to interview their group of prisoners of war. 

        17   Q.   And what information did you get on that occasion? 

        18   A.   The information  … -- and I 

        19        have to say here that …another 

        20        journalist, but he was a journalist from Imvaho.  Maybe 

        21        I could write down the name of that journalist.

        22   Q.   Yes, with the leave of the Court, that could be 

        23        possible.  Maybe you could continue answering. 

        24   A.   Yes.  …in order to do a report on the 

        25        prisoners of war, and  … asked them the question 

        26        regarding their composition, the reasons why they 

        27        attacked the country, and they answered and .. learned 

        28        that they were people who had been part of the Tutsi 

        29        rebellion of 1973, and .. also had names.

        30   Q.   You're talking about a Tutsi rebellion of 1973? 
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         1   A.   No.  I beg your pardon, I actually meant to refer to the 

         2        Tutsi rebellion of 1963. 

         3   Q.   The information collected on that occasion, was it 

         4        related to the phenomenon of accomplice that you 

         5        referred to?

         6   A.   Not only it referred to the accomplice phenomenon but as 

         7        well as to the phenomenon of composition, because in 

         8        that group they were Inyenzis, that is, people who had 

         9        participated in the former rebellion, and then there was 

        10        the fact that the group that attacked the country had 

        11        accomplices within the country, and it was people in 

        12        that group who they themselves said this. 

        13   Q.   Witness, as far as you're aware, what was the policy 

        14        that was put in place at ORINFOR by Ferdinand Nahimana 

        15        in respect of the multiparty political system? 

        16   A.   The policy in that area was that ORINFOR had a policy of 

        17        openness, and that was a policy of giving an opportunity 

        18        to each and every person to express himself/herself on 

        19        the radio.  And here maybe I could refer to the meeting 

        20        that the -- was convened by the director of ORINFOR, I 

        21        believe in August 1991, and this meeting was held with 

        22        the heads of political parties, and on that occasion 

        23        they agreed that each political party would be given 

        24        some time in order to present to the Rwandan people its 

        25        manifesto or its political platform.  So on the basis of 

        26        this, I would say that the policy was a policy of 

        27        openness, it was a policy of -- whereby each political 

        28        -- all political leaders could express themselves and 

        29        could present their platform to the Rwandan people.

        30   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, before moving on to another 
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         1        subject, I'd like to tender this as 1D190 under seal, 

         2        and this is -- this concerns the document which has just 

         3        been written by the witness. 

         4   MADAM PRESIDENT: 1D190 under seal.

         5             

         6        (Exhibit No. 1D190 admitted)

         7   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         8   Q.   Witness, you've just testified about the official air 

         9        time granted to each new party.  Notwithstanding this 

        10        attribution which was, which was not really written on, 

        11        did the leaders of political parties have other means of 

        12        having access to government media?

        13   A.   Yes.  There was a possibility for journalists from the 

        14        print media to contact opposition politicians and 

        15        interview them and ask them questions regarding the 

        16        various issues, and in that case their opinion would be 

        17        published in the print media or -- either in the La 

        18        Rèleve or in Imvaho. 

        19   Q.   Do you remember an article of that nature which was 

        20        published in La Rèleve?

        21   A.   (By order of the Court this portion has been extracted 

        22        and filed under seal)

        23   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, I would like to request the 

        24        Court to order that this last bit of information be 

        25        placed under seal because it could identify the witness. 

        26   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        27   Q.   Witness F2, please be careful.  Do not give specific 

        28        information which can be linked to your name in such a 

        29        way as to be able to identify you.

        30   MADAM PRESIDENT: The last response of the witness will be 
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         1        placed under seal. 

         2   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         3   Q.   Witness, to your recollection, did Mr. Twagiramungu -- 

         4        was Mr. Twagiramungu interviewed by journalists?

         5   A.   Yes.  I remember that there were many interviews which 

         6        were conducted by journalists from the print media. 

         7   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, at this point I'd like to 

         8        give the witness two articles which were published in La 

         9        Rèleve which are in the documents that have been 

        10        distributed.  The first article is headed "MDR:  No to 

        11        the integration of RPF in the Rwandan army.  Yes to the 

        12        national and sovereign conference".  The second article 

        13        is entitled, "Faustin Twagiramungu:  The multiparty 

        14        political system will sanatise the political situation".  

        15        

        16        Mr. Matemanga, could you kindly show this document to 

        17        the witness. 

        18   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        19   Q.   Witness, do you recognise this document as being 

        20        articles which were published in La Rèleve?

        21   A.   Yes, I recognise them.

        22   Q.   Can you tell us what are the dates which are at the 

        23        bottom of the two articles? 

        24   A.   La Rèleve edition No. 196 -- 180 of 28th June to the 4th 

        25        of July, 1991.  And that is the article concerning 

        26        "Faustin Twagiramungu:  The multiparty political system 

        27        will sanatise the political situation".  The second 

        28        article, "MDR", this is the heading, "No to the 

        29        integration of RPF in the Rwandan army.  Yes to the 

        30        national and sovereign conference".  This was published 
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         1        in La Rèleve No. 196 of 25th to 31st October, 1991. 

         2   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, I would request the Court to 

         3        allow that these two articles in La Rèleve be tendered 

         4        as 1D191. 

         5   MADAM PRESIDENT: 1D191, and it has the two pages.

         6             

         7        (Exhibit No. 1D191 admitted)

         8   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         9   Q.   Witness, during the time ..and 

        10        from the time when Ferdinand Nahimana was appointed 

        11        director of ORINFOR, were you aware either of a decision 

        12        or of comments or of an attitude emanating from 

        13        Ferdinand Nahimana which supposedly directly or 

        14        indirectly showed a hostility, be it minimal, towards 

        15        the Tutsis or towards Hutus who came from other regions, 

        16        that is, other than from his region?

        17   A.   I did not hear any such thing.

        18   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, I guess the witness has already 

        19        answered, but Counsel Biju-Duval has been asking very 

        20        many leading questions, and I would like the Court to 

        21        caution him. 

        22   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, as far as I'm concerned, 

        23        there's not been an objection, either from the 

        24        Prosecutor or from the Judge. 

        25   MADAM PRESIDENT: We don't object, Mr. Biju-Duval; we rule.  

        26        So we have your question, we have the answer, so let's 

        27        have your next question.

        28   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        29   Q.   Witness, did you have the opportunity to read certain 

        30        scientific writings or non-scientific writings or 
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         1        articles by Ferdinand Nahimana? 

         2   A.   I have to say that I read publications, particularly 

         3        scientific publications, by Ferdinand Nahimana.

         4   Q.   Could you tell us, which of those articles did you read? 

         5   A.   Well, for instance, I read le roi a parti -- or rather, 

         6        la blanc est arrivé, le roi est parti; "the white man 

         7        has come, the king has left".  

         8        

         9        I also read his thesis, "Lineages of Kingdoms and 

        10        Chiefdoms from" -- and I also read the publication of 

        11        his thesis, that is, Rwanda, l'emergence d'un etat, 

        12        "Rwanda, the emergence of a state". 

        13   Q.   Did you have the opportunity -- and here I'm talking 

        14        about books or works, but, rather, I'm talking about 

        15        articles, and here I'm talking about scientific articles 

        16        written by Ferdinand Nahimana prior to his thesis.

        17   A.   Yes, prior to his thesis, for instance, I read les 

        18        principauté des Bahutu du Rwanda septrional. 

        19   Q.   To your knowledge, according to your analysis, do these 

        20        various articles, publications, translate or manifest 

        21        any preconceived ideas or prejudices which can actually 

        22        weaken the scientific rigour of the author? 

        23   A.   No. 

        24   MS. KAGWI: I object again to these leading questions from 

        25        Counsel Biju-Duval. 

        26   MADAM PRESIDENT: We'll allow the last question, which has 

        27        already been answered. 

        28   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: The answer has been given.  Maybe it was not 

        29        translated.  Could the witness kindly repeat it, Madam 

        30        President.
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         1   MADAM PRESIDENT: It was translated.  He said no. 

         2   BY MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         3   Q.   Witness, according to your analysis, the research work, 

         4        the publications, do they demonstrate on the part of the 

         5        author a certain bias in favour or against specific 

         6        ethnic group or groups or region or regions? 

         7   A.   I think that the publications which I've mentioned are 

         8        scientific publications.  They are scientific 

         9        publications which are not in favour of one region or 

        10        one ethnic group.  For instance, if I look at the 

        11        article which I mentioned, les principauté des Bahutu du 

        12        Rwanda septrional, that is, "The Hutu principalities in 

        13        northern Rwanda", and if I look at doctoral thesis, that 

        14        is, "The Lineage From Kingdoms to Chiefdoms", you see 

        15        that the objective of the author is to show the process 

        16        of the formation of the Rwanda state.  And on the basis 

        17        of information collected in the field and on the basis 

        18        of documents and by comparing sources, the author leads 

        19        to another vision of the history of Rwanda, and this is 

        20        a scientific vision which shows that Rwanda was not 

        21        unified in the 17th century, at least, Rwanda as in its 

        22        current borders.  In other words, its formation was a 

        23        process, and here I do not see any ethnic or regional 

        24        tendency. 

        25   Q.   To your knowledge, regardless of the period, did the 

        26        scientific thesis written by Ferdinand Nahimana -- or 

        27        rather, I'll say the scientific findings or conclusions 

        28        in order to avoid an ambiguity when we use the word 

        29        thesis.  Now, to your knowledge, did his conclusions and 

        30        findings which were scientific, were they rather used 
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         1        politically by other people in their publications, in 

         2        their speeches or in any other forum publicly? 

         3   A.   To my knowledge, I did not know of any political use of 

         4        his documents, and what I can assert here is that his 

         5        documents were or are used scientifically.

         6   Q.   Could you give examples of scientific use by other 

         7        authors or researchers? 

         8   A.   Yes.  For instance, I can give the name of a German who 

         9        is an ethnologist working at the University of Mainz who 

        10        published a book in 1990 on "The Government in the 

        11        Country of a Thousand Hills", and he used the article of 

        12        Ferdinand Nahimana whose heading is "Hutu Principalities 

        13        of Northern Rwanda".  This is an example of scientific 

        14        use of his work.  And the professor's name is Anna 

        15        Brastellr.

        16   Q.   Could you spell that?

        17   A.   Anna is spelled A-N-N-A, Brastellr is spelled 

        18        B-R-A-S-T-E-L-L-R (sic).  And this was in 1990 -- I beg 

        19        your pardon, 1994. 

        20   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, I have no further questions 

        21        for this witness. 

        22   MADAM PRESIDENT: That's very good, Mr. Biju-Duval.  No more 

        23        documents? 

        24   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: No. 

        25   MADAM PRESIDENT: Ms. Kagwi, you would be ready to begin at 

        26        2:30, then? 

        27   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, I will be ready, but I'm wondering if 

        28        Counsel Martel would want to go first.

        29   MADAM PRESIDENT: Yes, that's a good point.  Do you have 

        30        questions in cross-examination, Mr. Martel, and if so, 
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         1        would you like to go before the Prosecution? 

         2   MR. MARTEL: Yes, I intend to ask this witness questions, but 

         3        I don't see why I should put my questions to this 

         4        witness before the Prosecutor, because unlike the last 

         5        time, I am not -- I don't have any constraints regarding 

         6        travelling, so I would rather first the Prosecution be 

         7        given the opportunity to cross-examine before I 

         8        cross-examine.  Thank you, Madam President.

         9   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, the problem I have with that is the 

        10        practice that the Defence of Hassan Ngeze has had in 

        11        using cross-examination as a way to bring in their own 

        12        evidence.  I will have then to re-examine extensively 

        13        after Counsel Martel.  So it would be much easier if the 

        14        whole of the Defence first finishes, then I can 

        15        cross-examine on all issues. 

        16   MR. MARTEL: With your leave, Madam President.

        17   MADAM PRESIDENT: Mr. Martel. 

        18   MR. MARTEL: I tried to reconcile a problem which I have 

        19        regarding the Tribunal's work.  I've not yet met my 

        20        client regarding all the issues raised by the current 

        21        witness.  This morning I was given a document which is 

        22        important and which I intend to use exhaustively --

        23   MADAM PRESIDENT: Mr. Martel, if it's time you need for 

        24        preparation, that's fine with the Chamber.  You can go 

        25        after the Prosecution, but Defence has -- Defence for 

        26        Hassan Ngeze has had a tendency to jump onto the 

        27        bandwagon and use Mr. Nahimana's witnesses as their own 

        28        to lead new material, and because -- if that tendency 

        29        then persists with this witness, we will have to allow 

        30        the Prosecution an opportunity to re-examine --
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         1   MR. MARTEL: Oui.

         2   MADAM PRESIDENT: -- on issues.  But if you need time to 

         3        prepare, that's fine with the Chamber, because you just 

         4        arrived. 

         5   MR. MARTEL: Very well, Madam President. 

         6   MADAM PRESIDENT: Mr. Caldarera? 

         7   MR. MARTEL: Madam President, could I add something else?  If 

         8        we could get the time that you will generously grant to 

         9        us, then I'll take this afternoon and then I'll also 

        10        take tomorrow.  This is the assessment made -- this is 

        11        the estimate made by my client. 

        12   MADAM PRESIDENT: The estimate is decided by the Chamber.  You 

        13        may have this afternoon, but not tomorrow.  You will 

        14        begin as soon as the Prosecution has completed their 

        15        cross-examination.  And you can, during the break, ask 

        16        the Prosecution how long they expect to be.

        17        

        18        Mr. Caldarera, would you have questions in 

        19        cross-examination for this witness? 

        20   MR. BARLETTA CALDARERA: Madam President, if I'm allowed to 

        21        repeat what you said, I do not have the intention of 

        22        using Mr. Nahimana's witness in order to cross-examine 

        23        the same witness, so in view of that, I do not have any 

        24        question to put to him.  Thank you, Madam President. 

        25   MADAM PRESIDENT: We will take the adjournment, resume at 

        26        2:35, and you can begin, Ms. Kagwi.  And if you intend 

        27        to put in any documents that are new, ensure that the 

        28        Defence has them.

        29        

        30        Witness F2, kindly do not discuss your testimony with 
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         1        anyone because you are in the midst of your evidence.  

         2        We will see you again after the lunch break.  

         3        (Court recessed at 1305H)

         4        

         5        (Pages 57 to 69 by Diane Hermann)

         6        

         7        

         8        

         9        

        10        

        11        

        12        

        13        

        14        

        15        

        16        

        17        

        18        

        19        

        20        

        21        

        22        

        23        

        24        

        25        

        26        

        27        

        28        

        29        

        30        

                              ICTR - TRIAL CHAMBER I

                                        69

          NAHIMANA ET AL                                  10 DECEMBER 2002

         1        (Court resumed at 1450H)

         2   MADAM PRESIDENT: Unfortunately, the Chamber was delayed a 

         3        little, and I apologise.  

         4        

         5        Ms. Kagwi. 

         6   MS. KAGWI: Thank you, Madam President, Your Honours.  

         7        

         8                        CROSS-EXAMINATION

         9   BY MS. KAGWI:

        10   Q.   Good afternoon, Witness. 

        11   A.   Good afternoon. 

        12   Q.   So, Witness, you have studied the oral techniques in 

        13        Rwanda.  You've also contributed to this organisation 

        14        that you called LATO which has to do with the oral, with 

        15        the oral culture of Rwanda.  So would you agree with me 

        16        that Rwanda is a country that has a strong oral culture? 

        17   A.   Yes, it is a society based on oral culture. 

        18   Q.   Now, would you also agree with the finding made by your 

        19        professor, Nahimana, that the radio by the late '80s was 

        20        replacing the oral culture of Rwanda? 

        21   A.   No. 

        22   MADAM PRESIDENT: Ms. Kagwi --

        23   MS. KAGWI: Yes.

        24   MADAM PRESIDENT: -- I don't know how long -- how far you 

        25        intend to proceed in the way you are proceeding.  This 

        26        is not an expert witness.

        27   MS. KAGWI: I know.  I know, Your Honour.

        28   MADAM PRESIDENT: All right.  So you're just laying the 

        29        basis --

        30   MS. KAGWI: Yes.
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         1   MADAM PRESIDENT: -- for your future questions?

         2   MS. KAGWI: Yeah, for future questions. 

         3   BY MS. KAGWI:

         4   Q.   But -- so as a journalist and as a person who studied 

         5        oral culture, would you agree that the population 

         6        trusted the radio? 

         7   MS. ELLIS: If the witness is not an expert, Madam President, 

         8        and has not made a study, then this is a matter of 

         9        opinion he's not able to give, with respect. 

        10   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour --

        11   MADAM PRESIDENT: We understand that some basis is being laid, 

        12        and as you may have observed, the Chamber is watching 

        13        the situation.

        14   BY MS. KAGWI:

        15   Q.   Would that be your position? 

        16   A.   What position are you talking about? 

        17   Q.   That the population in Rwanda trusted the radio?

        18   A.   Well, that would depend on the period you're talking 

        19        about. 

        20   Q.   I'm talking about the early '80s, early '90s of 1994 -- 

        21        and up to 1994. 

        22   A.   '90s up to '94, the population had trust, confidence in 

        23        the radio.

        24   Q.   So, and  ... 

        25        ..., you would agree that the media had a duty to 

        26        refrain from advocacy of hatred between groups and 

        27        amongst individuals? 

        28   MADAM PRESIDENT: That's a question for an expert witness. 

        29   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, he has talked about censorship of the 

        30        radio and what kind of things had to be said on the 
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         1        radio, and I would like to question him on that line. 

         2   MADAM PRESIDENT: So do you understand that, Witness?  The 

         3        question appears to follow from your evidence with 

         4        regard to censorship that rankled the journalists at one 

         5        time.  Now --

         6   THE WITNESS: Well, censorship does not mean or does not imply 

         7        hiding or concealing the truth.

         8   BY MS. KAGWI:

         9   Q.   That was not my question, Witness.  My question was that 

        10        the media had a duty to refrain from advocacy of hatred 

        11        between groups and amongst individuals, true or false? 

        12   A.   Yes.  The media had no right to preach ethnic hatred. 

        13   Q.   And it is also the position that free speech should be 

        14        limited to protect vulnerable groups from hate; isn't 

        15        that true? 

        16   A.   Well, free speech meant that the person who wanted or 

        17        who had something to say had to say so freely.  That's 

        18        what free speech is meant to be. 

        19   MADAM PRESIDENT: Ms. Kagwi, is the Prosecution treating 

        20        Witness F2 as an expert witness?

        21   MS. KAGWI: No, Your Honour, I'm moving on.

        22   MADAM PRESIDENT: The Chamber needs to know that.

        23   MS. KAGWI: I'm moving on from this line of questions, and 

        24        you'll understand the basis that I laid now later.

        25   BY MS. KAGWI:

        26   Q.   So, Witness, do you belong to any refugee organisation? 

        27   A.   Yes. 

        28   Q.   Now, could you write down on a piece of paper which 

        29        organisation this is, when you joined it, and what 

        30        position you currently hold?  Write it one, two, three.  
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         1        Witness, just clarify when you joined the organisation 

         2        as a member. 

         3   MADAM PRESIDENT: Ask your next question while that's going 

         4        around, Ms. Kagwi.

         5   BY MS. KAGWI:

         6   Q.   Now, can you tell the Court the ethnic origin of both 

         7        your mother and your father? 

         8   A.   They are Hutus. 

         9   MADAM PRESIDENT: Are you standing up, Mr. Biju-Duval? 

        10   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Yes.  I hope this is not a dangerous 

        11        question.  I'm worried about issues of identity, the 

        12        personal particulars that appear in the sheet that is 

        13        already part of the evidence.  I wouldn't like us to go 

        14        further into those personal particulars in public. 

        15   MADAM PRESIDENT: There may be many Rwandans, Rwandans with 

        16        Hutu parents, Mr. Biju-Duval.

        17   BY MS. KAGWI:

        18   Q.   Now, could you tell the Court the ethnic group of your 

        19        wife? 

        20   A.   She's Hutu. 

        21   Q.   From which region? 

        22   A.   Gisenyi.

        23   Q.   Now, when were you first contacted by the Defence to 

        24        give evidence? 

        25   A.   The first time that -- I've been in touch with the 

        26        Defence since 1997. 

        27   Q.   Who in the Defence team contacted you? 

        28   A.   The first time I was contacted by Mr. Duval.  That was 

        29        in 1997, as I just stated. 

        30   Q.   How long did you spend with Counsel Biju-Duval? 
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         1   A.   You mean the first time? 

         2   Q.   Yes, the first time. 

         3   A.   Two, three hours.

         4   Q.   And at the end of your two, three hours with Counsel 

         5        Biju-Duval, did you write anything down for his 

         6        assistance and then -- or did you sign anything for him? 

         7   A.   No, no.  We did not sign any document.

         8   Q.   Were you audio or video recorded? 

         9   A.   No.

        10   Q.   Have you met Aloys Ndengihimana?

        11   A.   Yes, I met Aloys Ndengihimana.

        12   Q.   When did you first meet him and when -- yeah, when did 

        13        you first meet him? 

        14   A.   I met him the first time in the year 2000, if my 

        15        recollection serves me right. 

        16   Q.   And did you write anything down or sign anything for 

        17        him?

        18   A.   No.

        19   Q.   Okay.  Now, you have written a lot about the Rwandan 

        20        crisis as a historian; is that correct? 

        21   A.   Yes.

        22   Q.   Can you give the Court a number -- an estimate of the 

        23        number of articles and publications you have written? 

        24   A.   Well, as for publications, there are still unedited 

        25        ones, and then there are other publications that have 

        26        been edited.  Among those that have been edited, I could 

        27        make mention of an article --

        28   MADAM PRESIDENT: If you are giving the title of the article, 

        29        then write it down.  Were you going to give the titles 

        30        of these articles? 
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         1   THE WITNESS: I don't know whether it is necessary for me to 

         2        give the titles.  I just wish to say that I did make -- 

         3        there were some publications made by myself.  Some of 

         4        them were edited, others unedited.

         5   BY MS. KAGWI:

         6   Q.   How many have you written?  All together, how many have 

         7        you written?

         8   A.   I would say about ten of them.

         9   Q.   Okay.  Now, I'll show you one document.

        10   MS. KAGWI: Could the witness be given the document that I 

        11        handed out to the Court and the parties.

        12   MADAM PRESIDENT: Ms. Kagwi --

        13   MS. KAGWI: Let me give the registry --

        14   MADAM PRESIDENT: -- you will avoid referring to the document.

        15   MS. KAGWI: Definitely the title, and it will be under seal 

        16        when I finally move to have it admitted. 

        17   MR. MARTEL: Could we see the document before it's even talked 

        18        about, introduced? 

        19   MS. KAGWI: I believe Counsel Martel has a copy of that 

        20        document.

        21   MR. MARTEL: I received a copy of a document barely ten 

        22        minutes ago, and it is the list of the Prosecutor which 

        23        was given to me.  It doesn't appear there.  It does not 

        24        appear on that list from the Prosecutor's office.  I 

        25        don't see the document given to me ten minutes ago 

        26        appearing there.

        27   MS. KAGWI: I'll give Counsel Martel a spare copy, but he was 

        28        handed --

        29   MADAM PRESIDENT: Mr. Martel, do you have this in front of you 

        30        or not? 
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         1   MR. MARTEL: Madam President, I wear spectacles, but they're 

         2        not that bad.  Can you see the document yourself?  If 

         3        this is the document that has just been given to me, 

         4        yes, I do have it barely ten minutes ago, but it does 

         5        not appear on the list given by the Prosecutor.

         6   MADAM PRESIDENT: Try not to interrupt as far as possible, 

         7        Mr. Martel.  We got it one minute ago.  So if you have 

         8        it ten minutes ago, you're better off.  You're better 

         9        off by nine minutes.

        10   THE ACCUSED NGEZE: Madam President, I don't have a copy, I'm 

        11        sorry. 

        12   MADAM PRESIDENT: Do you have it in front of you, Witness F2? 

        13   THE WITNESS: Yes, I do have it.

        14   MADAM PRESIDENT: The question, Ms. Kagwi.

        15   BY MS. KAGWI:

        16   Q.   Is this one of your documents, one that you have written 

        17        or a critique that you have written? 

        18   A.   Yes, it's my article, article written by me.

        19   Q.   And in this article you're very critical about the 

        20        monarchy prior to 1959; that's correct? 

        21   A.   No.  In this article I actually object to the idea 

        22        advanced by some historians who continue to say that 

        23        during the monarchy, Rwanda was a paradise.  And I have 

        24        cited examples drawn from books to prove the fact that 

        25        during that period, Rwanda was -- whatever it was, it 

        26        was not a paradise.  There were problems.  There were 

        27        wars, extermination -- acts of extermination taking 

        28        place during that period, and that in any case, it was 

        29        not a paradise. 

        30   Q.   The purpose of your writing this article is that so that 
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         1        people reading this particular book that you're 

         2        criticising can have a proper record.  That's the point, 

         3        isn't it? 

         4   A.   No, no.  The purpose of this article -- or I wrote this 

         5        article after having read those books.  Indeed, there 

         6        are deliberate -- or errors that were not wilfully 

         7        committed, and through my article I tried to effect 

         8        corrections, as it were. 

         9   Q.   Now, if you look at this and what you have written, it's 

        10        true, isn't it, that you make no mention of the killings 

        11        of hundreds of Tutsis during the so-called 1959 

        12        revolution?

        13   A.   Well, if you read that article properly, there is some 

        14        point at which I say that in 1959, Hutus and Tutsis did 

        15        die, and therefore that that revolution did take away 

        16        lives of Hutus and Tutsis, and that's my position.  So 

        17        it was a partial approach to reporting on what occurred 

        18        during that period.

        19   Q.   Can you point that out to me and read out to the Court 

        20        that part that you've just said?

        21   MS. ELLIS: It's not possible, with respect, to read it out 

        22        because, of course, that is a method of identifying the 

        23        article.  There's no objection to the witness 

        24        identifying by some other means the passage, but if you 

        25        read out an article, you make it possible to search it 

        26        on the Internet and find it. 

        27   MS. KAGWI: With all -- I have no problem with the witness 

        28        highlighting it and showing it to us. 

        29   MADAM PRESIDENT: So just take us to the page you are looking 

        30        at.
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         1   MS. KAGWI: And Your Honour, while he's identifying that 

         2        page and perhaps highlighting it --

         3   MADAM PRESIDENT: Everything you're saying is being 

         4        translated.

         5   MS. KAGWI: Yes.  I intend to put this document in now as an 

         6        exhibit, P209.

         7   MADAM PRESIDENT: Just hold on with that.  

         8        

         9        Witness F2, does it appear on page 11?

        10   THE WITNESS: Yes, I would need time to look through it to 

        11        read the document.

        12   MADAM PRESIDENT: How long a time would you need to read it?

        13   THE WITNESS: Say, five minutes. 

        14   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, I can be marking the other document 

        15        now as P209 under seal. 

        16   MADAM PRESIDENT: The handwritten document will be P209.  Is 

        17        that your last exhibit number? 

        18   MS. KAGWI: Yes, Your Honour.

        19   MADAM PRESIDENT: Under seal.

        20             

        21        (Exhibit No. P209 admitted)

        22   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, perhaps to save time, on page 11 --

        23   MADAM PRESIDENT: Ms. Kagwi, you put a bulky document in front 

        24        of the witness, and then you asked him a question, and 

        25        followed by inviting him to point out the paragraph.  He 

        26        needs an opportunity to look at it.  Now, if you can 

        27        hold this question till later, that might speed up the 

        28        process.  

        29        

        30        Have you had your five minutes now, Witness, or do 
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         1        you -- would you need more time? 

         2   THE WITNESS: I think this is a bulky document, so I don't 

         3        think within the time frame be able to read the 

         4        document.  So with the time allowed, I don't think I can 

         5        answer the question. 

         6   MADAM PRESIDENT: You can move on to other areas.

         7   MS. KAGWI: I will, Your Honour. 

         8   BY MS. KAGWI:

         9   Q.   Now, as a vocal historian, as you stated, you have 

        10        written a lot about the plight of the Rwandan refugees.  

        11        That's correct? 

        12   A.   No.

        13   Q.   But you have written about the plight of the Rwandan 

        14        refugees?

        15   A.   (By order of the Court this portion has been extracted 

        16        and filed under seal)

        17   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, I hope that response will be 

        18        kept under seal because it is pretty easy to find that 

        19        article and know who the author is. 

        20   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, this is getting a bit much.  There 

        21        are hundreds of documents written in La Rèleve about 

        22        refugees. 

        23   MADAM PRESIDENT: The witness's last response will be placed 

        24        under seal.

        25   BY MS. KAGWI:

        26   Q.   So what have you written about the plight of the 

        27        hundreds of Rwandan Tutsi refugees who are living in 

        28        Zaire, Tanzania, and Kenya in transit camps for almost 

        29        35 years? 

        30   THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER: Microphone. 
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         1   THE WITNESS: In writing those articles, my concern was not to 

         2        outline the problems that refugees faced.  It was to say 

         3        that what was being said about the numbers was not 

         4        correct. 

         5   BY MS. KAGWI:

         6   Q.   Okay.  Now, you stated that you belong to a refugee 

         7        organisation, right?  Now, what is --

         8   A.   Yes.

         9   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, I'd like to -- because I have to 

        10        proceed in a manner that does not reveal the identity of 

        11        this witness, I'd like to withdraw my last question. 

        12   BY MS. KAGWI:

        13   Q.   Now, are you familiar with the RDR position on genocide? 

        14   A.   Yes, I'm aware of that position.

        15   Q.   What is this position? 

        16   A.   The position is that RDR does recognise the genocide.

        17   Q.   It recognises the Tutsi genocide.  That is correct, yes? 

        18   A.   Recognised the Tutsi genocide but also the Hutu 

        19        genocide; in other words, genocide of the Rwandans. 

        20   Q.   Now, I'd like you to have a look at a document.  It's 

        21        P107/43.  You recognise this document as proceeding from 

        22        RDR, Cameroonian section, 1996, right? 

        23   A.   I don't recognise it because I told you earlier of my 

        24        membership, the date of when I became a member of the 

        25        RDR.

        26   Q.   So you have not familiarised yourself with other 

        27        documents concerning this organisation; is that your 

        28        position? 

        29   A.   I'm saying that documents that appeared before I became 

        30        a member of that organisation are not familiar to me.
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         1   Q.   But have a look at this document.  Do you recognise the 

         2        names that come underneath this document, the seven -- 

         3        the 12 names? 

         4   A.   Yes. 

         5   Q.   These are members of RDR, isn't it, or have been members 

         6        of RDR?

         7   A.   That one I don't know. 

         8   Q.   So do you know that they have received -- they received 

         9        help from RDR in order to find advocates?  Did you 

        10        familiarise yourself with the background of the 

        11        organisation that you joined? 

        12   A.   That one I don't know, either. 

        13   Q.   You never familiarised yourself with the background of 

        14        this organisation that you joined?  Is that your 

        15        position to the Court, you did not bother? 

        16   A.   Of course I am informed of the background of the 

        17        organisation in which I became a member, but I don't 

        18        know whether this or that member of the organisation 

        19        sought an advocate or sought an advocate through the 

        20        organisation.

        21   Q.   So do you know whether or not these high-standing 

        22        individuals in the Rwandan community between the years 

        23        of 1990 to 1994 were members of RDR at any one point? 

        24   MADAM PRESIDENT: It's been asked and answered.  Are you 

        25        asking about these 12 names here?

        26   MS. KAGWI: Yes, the 12 names.

        27   MADAM PRESIDENT: He does not know. 

        28   MS. KAGWI: Okay.

        29        

        30   BY MS. KAGWI:
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         1   Q.   Now, I want you to look at this document because it's a 

         2        document that comes from RDR.  Now, look at --

         3   A.   But I'm saying that I cannot look at this document and I 

         4        don't know whether these people belonged to RDR. 

         5   Q.   Well, I'm putting it to you that they did, and I am 

         6        telling you --

         7   MS. KAGWI: I have not finished my question, Ms. Ellis.  Could 

         8        you let me finish my question, then you can object.  

         9        That is the procedure. 

        10   MS. ELLIS: There's no point in putting, Madam President, to a 

        11        witness that people are members of an organisation when 

        12        the witness has said already he doesn't know that.  

        13        Ms. Kagwi, whatever she thinks --

        14   MADAM PRESIDENT: Let's not waste too many words on this.

        15   MS. ELLIS: -- is not getting this.

        16   MADAM PRESIDENT: Let's not waste too many words on it.  We've 

        17        dealt with this already, and we've heard his answer on 

        18        this.

        19   MS. KAGWI: Yes, and I'm now moving on.  And Your Honour, it 

        20        is the practice to put to a witness your position, as 

        21        the Defence has always done.

        22   BY MS. KAGWI:

        23   Q.   Now, you stated before this Court that you were familiar 

        24        with the people that Nahimana had worked in, in writing 

        25        -- in his writings.  Now, you are not familiar with this 

        26        document and these people that Nahimana worked with up 

        27        to the time to produce a document; is that the position? 

        28   A.   Not at all.

        29   MR. BIJU-DUVAL: Madam President, I don't know whether it's a 

        30        problem of translation.  I don't think the witness ever 
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         1        said or he simply said or merely said that he did 

         2        recognise the 12 names that appeared in the document, 

         3        full stop.  He said nothing more, nothing more in 

         4        connection with the work that was done by Mr. Nahimana 

         5        and these people.  I hope the testimony of the witness 

         6        will not be distorted in connection with this particular 

         7        point. 

         8   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, first -- my first point is that two 

         9        counsels are now standing up to object on the same 

        10        question.  But my position here is that I'm not 

        11        referring to these 12 individuals.  I'm referring to the 

        12        direct examination of this witness who stated that he 

        13        was aware of people that Nahimana had worked with to 

        14        produce works of -- written works.  That was his direct 

        15        evidence, and this is a written work in which he has 

        16        contributed. 

        17   MADAM PRESIDENT: So the question is whether he is aware of 

        18        Mr. Nahimana producing this document in collaboration 

        19        with the other 11 persons.  Is that your question?

        20   MS. KAGWI: Yes.  Yes, Your Honour. 

        21   MADAM PRESIDENT: Well, can you answer that, Witness?

        22   THE WITNESS: Yes, I can answer.  I have said that I had read 

        23        the scientific document written or the learned articles 

        24        written by Nahimana.  This is not a learned article, per 

        25        se; it is a political document.

        26   BY MS. KAGWI:

        27   Q.   So you have made choices of what kind of articles to 

        28        read concerning Nahimana; is that your position? 

        29   A.   No, no, no.  I made no choice.  I am saying, considering 

        30        the scheduling of my own time, how I arrange my time and 
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         1        the concerns that are currently mine, what I'm saying is 

         2        I've read the scientific works or productions, but I 

         3        didn't read the political works or political documents. 

         4   Q.   Now, I want you to look at that particular document, 

         5        page 29.  Please look at it, page 29 of that document. 

         6   MADAM PRESIDENT: Is it the same page in English? 

         7   MS. KAGWI: No, Your Honour.  In English it's the page that 

         8        starts with paragraph 5.3 -- point 31. 

         9   THE WITNESS: Which page, please?

        10   BY MS. KAGWI:

        11   Q.   Page 29.  Now, I'd like you to look at the third 

        12        paragraph and the fourth paragraph -- third, fourth, and 

        13        fifth paragraph.  Do you agree with this document about 

        14        what it says about RTLM? 

        15   A.   Which page? 

        16   Q.   Page 29.  Look at the -- maybe to make things easier and 

        17        to make things faster, look at paragraph -- the fifth 

        18        paragraph that talks about the objective of RTLM, okay?  

        19        Read it and tell the Court if you agree with this or 

        20        not.

        21   A.   I agree. 

        22        

        23        (Pages 70 to 84 by Diane Hermann)

        24        

        25        

        26        

        27        

        28        

        29        

        30        
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         1        1530H

         2   BY MS. KAGWI:

         3   Q.   Okay.  Now move over to page 31.  The paragraph that 

         4        talks -- that starts la radio de la RTLM S.A., the 

         5        second but last paragraph, and towards the end. 

         6   A.   I don't see anything abnormal in the paragraph.

         7   Q.   Okay.  Now I want to show you an RTLM transcript.  

         8        

         9        And Your Honour, I apologize because I did not hand this 

        10        out before, but I have copies of all this, and this is 

        11        something that has been read out in court.  This is 

        12        P-36/44(A.)

        13   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        14        Madam President, I see nowhere on the list that was 

        15        handed out to us any mention of this document.  Can 

        16        Counsel Kagwi provide us with an explanation, or is this 

        17        a violation of the principles enshrined by this Chamber?

        18   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        19        Any explanations, Ms. Kagwi?

        20   MS. KAGWI:

        21        Your Honour, I just apologised for that.  I was not 

        22        expecting to have this witness this afternoon, as 

        23        Counsel had stated they were going to take the whole 

        24        day.  So I did what I could by getting copies of this 

        25        exhibit.

        26   BY MS. KAGWI:

        27   Q.   Witness, do we have a copy of that?  Now, could you look 

        28        at --

        29   MS. ELLIS:

        30        Madam President, again, Ms. Kagwi must lay some kind of 
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         1        foundation, whether the witness has ever seen or heard 

         2        this broadcast, before simply producing something that 

         3        has been dealt with through other witnesses.

         4   MS. KAGWI:

         5        Your Honour, without in any way --

         6   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         7        Ms. Kagwi?  This is just one page of this and the first 

         8        three paragraphs.  Are you directing the witness to any 

         9        one of these paragraphs?

        10   MS. KAGWI:

        11        Yes.  I am directing him at the last paragraph, and it 

        12        stems directly from his direct evidence in which he 

        13        talks about the RPF and the Tutsi.

        14   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        15        Witness F2, the Prosecutor is asking you to look at that 

        16        last paragraph on that page.  Do you see that 

        17        Kinyarwanda word "hamyuma"?

        18   THE WITNESS:

        19        Yes.

        20   BY MS. KAGWI:

        21   Q.   Now, do you not agree with me that the speaker here, by 

        22        stating that RPF and the Tutsi are one and the same 

        23        thing, is identifying the Tutsi with the enemy that the 

        24        country is fighting.  That's correct, isn't it?

        25   MS. ELLIS:

        26        Madam President, you can't possibly put to a witness a 

        27        one-page document with an unidentified speaker taken out 

        28        of context and ask him to give a fair, considered 

        29        comment.

        30   MADAM PRESIDENT:
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         1        Ms. Kagwi, I suggest you put this document aside, and we 

         2        are interested in the line of questioning, not the 

         3        witness' interpretation of what someone said on a radio 

         4        station, but in light of the evidence he has given on 

         5        the terminology and the meanings he attaches to 

         6        accomplices, and so on.  So the direction is, you follow 

         7        this line of questioning in relation to the evidence 

         8        this witness gives.

         9   MS. KAGWI:

        10   Q.   Now, you stated that Kantano Habimana was a professional 

        11        journalist, that's true, isn't it; in direct testimony?

        12   A.   Yes, he was a professional journalist.

        13   Q.   Now would you call it professional to identify the RPF 

        14        and the Tutsi ethnic group on national radio at a time 

        15        of war, at a time of ethnic conflict, by stating that 

        16        they were one and the same thing?

        17   A.   I would like to ask here what the context of this speech 

        18        was in time, in order to be able to answer that 

        19        question.

        20   Q.   Now, is there any context in which it can be correct to 

        21        identify the RPF and the Tutsi within the country as one 

        22        and the same thing?  Is there any context that you can 

        23        say is correct, especially in February of 1993 -- 1994, 

        24        I'm sorry, or any time in which the RTLM was 

        25        broadcasting?

        26   A.   Well, listen, I am saying that the meaning that was 

        27        given to the name RPF Inkotanyi, I gave their meaning 

        28        that is usually attributed to that name, this afternoon.  

        29        If a journalist said RPF Inkotanyi is equal to Tutsi, we 

        30        should put the question to him as to how and why he said 
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         1        that.  So it is not my duty to think in his place and to 

         2        interpret what he wanted to say.

         3   Q.   I am asking you this question in the context that you 

         4        stated that the Inkotanyi, which was also identified 

         5        with the RPF, was never identified with the Tutsi group.  

         6        Now here I am stating to you that it was, and we are not 

         7        asking to another journalist.  I am stating that it is 

         8        wrong, it is wrong to at any time during a war to 

         9        identify an ethnic group with the enemy.  That's the 

        10        position.  Would there be any time it would be correct 

        11        to identify an ethnic group with the enemy?

        12   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        13        Madam President, the Prosecutor has a right to put 

        14        questions to the witness and not to distort the 

        15        testimony that has already been given by the witness.  

        16        The witness said only one thing, and that is, that in 

        17        the government media during the period when he was 

        18        working, these expressions --

        19   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        20        Let me stop you.  This is cross-examination and the 

        21        Prosecution is putting her position to the witness.  

        22        Your objection is overruled.  

        23        

        24        The question has been long, but you have heard it.  Do 

        25        you have a response? 

        26   THE WITNESS:

        27        Well, the answer I would give is that personally, the 

        28        service I was working in had, in referring to RPF 

        29        Inkotanyi, had a meaning in mind, and at the time.  So 

        30        if a journalist said something else, it is not for me to 
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         1        answer that question.

         2   BY MS. KAGWI:

         3   Q.   You stated to the Court that the population trusted the 

         4        radio.  Isn't that correct?  Now in this particular 

         5        broadcast, wouldn't it be correct to say that 

         6        identifying the Tutsi and the RPF is a call to ethnic 

         7        hatred?

         8   MS. ELLIS:

         9        Madam President, again I object to asking a witness to 

        10        deal with a broadcast when it isn't established that the 

        11        witness heard the broadcast.  He is being shown one 

        12        page.  It doesn't make sense, it's not fair to the 

        13        witness.  It's inappropriate as a line of 

        14        cross-examination.

        15   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        16        Witness F2, you were asked by Mr. Biju- Duval to explain 

        17        who you meant was the aggressor, and you said RPF 

        18        Inkotanyi or Inyenzi Inkotanyi, and then there was a 

        19        third where hamyuma appears.  And so the Chamber heard 

        20        this response from you, and we note that you did not 

        21        equate those groups with the ethnic group Tutsi. 

        22   THE WITNESS:

        23        Yes.  I said that the Inyenzi Inkotanyi, or RPF 

        24        Inkotanyi were a group that attacked Rwanda from Uganda.  

        25        I never said that Inyenzi Inkotanyi, RPF Inkotanyi, 

        26        could be equated, or were being equated to the Tutsi 

        27        ethnic group.

        28   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        29        Yes.  That's how we heard your evidence.  Why wouldn't 

        30        you say that?  Why wouldn't you say the enemy equals the 
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         1        Tutsi ethnic group?

         2   THE WITNESS:

         3        There again, I did explain and I said that when the war 

         4        started in October 1990 there was a group of Tutsis, and 

         5        I even indicated a letter that was published in La 

         6        Rèleve.  I said that the Tutsi group wrote castigating 

         7        that attack and opposing it and expressing its 

         8        opposition vis-à-vis that attack.  And as such, we could 

         9        not equate the attackers with the Tutsis, whereas there 

        10        were indeed Tutsis who were against the attacks.

        11   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        12        So in the course of your work as a journalist, did you 

        13        not come across expressions of opinion where the RPF 

        14        were equated to the Tutsi ethnic group? 

        15   THE WITNESS:

        16        Not in my service.

        17   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        18        Well, did you come across such expressions on RTLM 

        19        radio? 

        20   THE WITNESS:

        21        Let me point out one thing.  I would like to point out 

        22        that RTLM radio started broadcasting towards the middle 

        23        of 1993 (By order of the Court this portion has been 

        24        extracted and filed under seal.)

        25   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        26        I stop you there, to place under seal the identification 

        27        you just made.  And I have to ask you to be careful in 

        28        your responses not to name your occupations.  We know 

        29        that you....  So for the 

        30        record, I am placing a portion of your answer under 

                              ICTR - TRIAL CHAMBER I

                                        90

          NAHIMANA ET AL                                  10 DECEMBER 2002

         1        seal, and now you may continue.

         2   THE WITNESS:

         3        So at that time we were not receiving that radio 

         4        station, where we were, and when I got back to the 

         5        campus where it was situated in a valley and it wasn't 

         6        easy to receive the radio.  I am saying this because I 

         7        want to point out that these broadcasts and this 

         8        information was not heard by me.  I didn't hear all 

         9        those broadcasts.

        10   BY MS. KAGWI:

        11   Q.   Witness, you would agree were me, though, but equating 

        12        the RPF and the Tutsi ethnic group is -- during a time 

        13        of war, was a call to ethnic hatred.  Right? 

        14   A.   I said that the meaning that was received in my service 

        15        was what I gave.  So if there was somebody who was 

        16        trying to equate something as to another, you should ask 

        17        him why he did so.

        18   Q.   I am asking you, Witness, because you stated that there 

        19        was never a time in which the Inkotanyi and the Tutsi 

        20        group, which you recall, was identified the "Tutsi 

        21        group", in Rwanda.  Now I am asking you, isn't it true 

        22        but putting on national radio a statement that equates 

        23        the Tutsis with the RPF is a call to ethnic hatred?

        24   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        25        Ms. Kagwi, this witness didn't hear any such broadcast.

        26   MS. KAGWI:

        27        Your Honour, with respect, it has nothing to do with 

        28        what he heard.  I am putting to him.  He has stated 

        29        there was never a time in which he knew that the RPF or 

        30        the Inkotanyi were identified with the Tutsi within the 
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         1        country.

         2   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         3        The question is disallowed.  Next question.

         4   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         5        Madam President, in this translation I hear reference 

         6        being made to the radio.

         7   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         8        Do not address on a matter that I have ruled on already.  

         9        Now, what is it? 

        10   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        11        I just want to make sure there is no error.  I hear the 

        12        interpreters making reference to "national radio."  A 

        13        document has been submitted to the witness regarding 

        14        RTLM.  I am surprised, and I wanted to make sure Counsel 

        15        Kagwi is talking of national radio.  No evidence has 

        16        been provided on that, this national radio.  Then I 

        17        would insist on my question.

        18   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        19        I am going to caution you, Mr. Biju-Duval, not to 

        20        address after we have made a ruling.  We have disallowed 

        21        the last question, so we didn't need your intervention.  

        22        Your next question, Ms. Kagwi.

        23   BY MS. KAGWI:

        24   Q.   Witness, were you ever a shareholder of RTLM?  Did you 

        25        hear the question?  Were you ever a shareholder of RTLM?

        26   A.   No.

        27   Q.   Why not?

        28   A.   Why?  Because I didn't have enough money at the time to 

        29        subscribe to shares.

        30   Q.   5,000 amasaranga.  I will move on.  Don't comment on 
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         1        that.

         2   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         3        So why are you making a comment? 

         4   MS. KAGWI:

         5        Because I don't believe the witness on the money thing, 

         6        but it doesn't matter.

         7   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         8        I don't believe you can ask a question like that.  He is 

         9        not a shareholder, and that's that.

        10   BY MS. KAGWI:

        11   Q.   Did you at any one point when you were in Rwanda, before 

        12        you left Rwanda to go for your further studies, did you 

        13        at any one time hear criticisms of RTLM that it was said 

        14        to have cost ethnic hatred?  That was before 1994.

        15   MS. ELLIS:

        16        Objection: On a point of relevance, Madam President.

        17   MS. KAGWI:

        18        Your Honour, this goes right to the heart of this 

        19        witness' testimony.  He has stated how Ferdinand 

        20        Nahimana had no ethnic bias.  Now at this point we are 

        21        stating that RTLM was a child of Nahimana, and I have to 

        22        ask this question.  It is my duty to do so.

        23   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        24        The question will be allowed.  Witness, Ms. Kagwi is now 

        25        focusing on RTLM broadcast before ...

        26   MS. KAGWI:

        27        April 7, during the time he was in Rwanda.

        28   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        29        He has already answered the question.

        30   MS. KAGWI:
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         1        No, he hasn't, Your Honour.  He hasn't stated whether he 

         2        heard that there was criticisms that it was causing 

         3        ethnic hatred.

         4   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         5        He has told us he was not able to listen to the RTLM 

         6        radio station.

         7   MS. KAGWI:

         8        Your Honour, it is not about what he heard about from 

         9        RTLM.  These were criticisms made by the Ministry of 

        10        Information by the Prosecutor, so I want to know if he 

        11        is aware of that.

        12   MS. ELLIS:

        13        Madam President, what relevance does it have if this 

        14        witness, who has never heard the broadcast, has heard 

        15        anything said by way of rumour?

        16   MS. KAGWI:

        17        Your Honour --

        18   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        19        We will allow that question.  Can you just frame it 

        20        again.

        21   BY MS. KAGWI:

        22   Q.   Witness, during the time you were in Rwanda do you ever 

        23        happen to hear complains from official organs and from 

        24        NGOs that RTLM broadcasts were causing ethnic hatred in 

        25        Rwanda?

        26   A.   I heard no such criticism, at least during the time I 

        27        was in Rwanda, because as I said earlier, given the fact 

        28        that I was in a particular locality during that period, 

        29        I was unable to listen to RTLM regularly.  So I heard no 

        30        criticisms being voiced against that radio station.
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         1   Q.   Did you read any criticisms on newspapers regarding this 

         2        radio station at the time you were there?

         3   A.   Which newspapers? 

         4   Q.   I'm asking any.  Did you read any?

         5   A.   I should say that the private media was not my main 

         6        source of information.  And in reading the official 

         7        press Imvaho, La Rèleve, which I read often, I never 

         8        encountered any criticisms in those newspapers against 

         9        RTLM during the period you are referring to.

        10   Q.   Now, during this same period that we are referring to, 

        11        that is, before April 7, is it your position that you 

        12        were not in touch with your former colleagues at ORINFOR 

        13        and that you did not hear of any criticisms of RTLM at 

        14        that time?

        15   A.   I said that RTLM radio started broadcasting in mid 1993, 

        16        and at the time during that period of 1993, August 1993 

        17        to April 1994 (By order of the Court this portion has 

        18        been extracted and filed under seal.)  So these were my 

        19        two main concerns at the time.

        20   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        21        Madam President.

        22   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        23        Mr. Biju-Duval? 

        24   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        25        Madam President, I would like information relating to 

        26        the activities of the witness at that time be placed 

        27        under seal.

        28   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        29        The last response will be placed under seal.

        30   BY MS. KAGWI:
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         1   Q.   Witness, so your position is you heard nothing, you saw 

         2        nothing.  And yet you are ready to come to this Court 

         3        and agree with this document that has been authored by, 

         4        amongst one of them, Nahimana, that states that RTLM was 

         5        a combat radio and it states that its objectives was to 

         6        gather, process and disseminate information within the 

         7        scope of the laws enforced while abiding by professional 

         8        ethics and the code of conduct of journalism. 

         9             

        10        What gives you the knowledge to give this kind of 

        11        information, when you will not comment on anything about 

        12        RTLM, saying you heard nothing, you saw nothing?

        13   A.   In coming to testify in this Chamber, I came in the 

        14        capacity of a witness of fact, of concrete fact, and 

        15        these concrete facts are, the university where Ferdinand 

        16        Nahimana was and what he did at ORINFOR.

        17   Q.   But you also stated here to this Court that you agreed 

        18        with this document that talked about RTLM being a combat 

        19        radio and all the good things it was supposed to do.  

        20        And yet when I asked you information about anything that 

        21        was in -- that you heard or read about RTLM, your 

        22        position is that you saw nothing and heard nothing. 

        23   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        24        Madam President.

        25   MS. KAGWI:

        26        Your Honour, before Counsel Biju Duval makes his 

        27        objection, I just caution them to give the witness 

        28        answers, which has been the practice in that defence 

        29        team for some time.

        30   MADAM PRESIDENT:

                              ICTR - TRIAL CHAMBER I

                                        96

          NAHIMANA ET AL                                  10 DECEMBER 2002

         1        Yes, Mr. Biju- Duval? 

         2   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

         3        Madam President, we should not distort the testimony of 

         4        the witness.  Let me quote something.  When we look at 

         5        the documents produced by the Office of the Prosecutor 

         6        the witness merely said, "I agree with the ideas 

         7        expressed."  These are French words that were uttered.  

         8        On the second question, he simply said, "I find nothing 

         9        abnormal in what is expressed."  Full stop, period.  He 

        10        was presented with a text and he gave his opinion on the 

        11        text.  

        12        

        13        This is all the witness has said up till now.  So let us 

        14        not distort his testimony.

        15   MS. KAGWI:

        16        Your Honour, with all due respect, the witness did not 

        17        say what Counsel Biju-Duval said, right at the 

        18        beginning.  The word "ideas" was never mentioned, and 

        19        that is a word that Counsel Biju-Duval has added, and 

        20        that is exactly what I was stating.

        21   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        22        Witness F2, let us go back to this document that was 

        23        produced to you, and the comment about RTLM and your 

        24        answer was, more or less, that you had no problems with 

        25        that.  The Prosecution's question now is, if you knew 

        26        nothing about RTLM, were you in a position to even 

        27        comment on what is stated in this RDR document on the 

        28        RTLM radio station?

        29   THE WITNESS:

        30        I could perhaps answer this question.  A document was 
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         1        presented to me and paragraphs were pointed out to me, 

         2        and these paragraphs contained ideas, and on the basis 

         3        of these ideas I was asked to say whether I agreed to 

         4        them, and I said, with regard to the first paragraph, I 

         5        believe on page 29 or 31, I was shown a paragraph, and 

         6        on it was written "objectives", and I said I agreed with 

         7        the objective that was stated on that paragraph. 

         8             

         9        I was again referred to another paragraph, and I said 

        10        that I found nothing abnormal in that paragraph.   That 

        11        is what I said.  And I uphold that position.

        12   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        13        So when you gave that answer you were not speaking from 

        14        personal knowledge of the RTLM radio station.  Is that 

        15        the position? 

        16   THE WITNESS:

        17        Yes.  I relied on the documents that was presented to me 

        18        here, with particular reference to the specific 

        19        paragraphs that were indicated to me.

        20   MS. ELLIS:

        21        Madam President, could we just clarify the position of 

        22        the Prosecutor, because the Prosecutor is one, and the 

        23        military trial has made a point of establishing the link 

        24        between the military and RTLM.  So is Ms. Kagwi --

        25   MS. KAGWI:

        26        Your Honour, with all due respect, this should not be 

        27        said before the witness, and we can argue this matter 

        28        later on.  I wish to proceed.

        29   MS. ELLIS:

        30        I would be grateful --
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         1   MS. KAGWI:

         2        It has nothing to do with the evidence now.

         3   MS. ELLIS:

         4        I would be grateful not to be interrupted mid sentence.  

         5        The way Ms. Kagwi put her question suggests that she was 

         6        disputing that the radio was linked to the military at a 

         7        certain time, and that is why I am asking the position 

         8        of the Prosecutor.

         9   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        10        We will not direct the Prosecutor in this instance, and 

        11        now we ask Ms. Ellis and Mr. Biju- Duval to allow the 

        12        Prosecution to proceed with the cross-examination with 

        13        the minimum of interruptions.  Next question, Ms. Kagwi.

        14   BY MS. KAGWI:

        15   Q.   Now, Witness, you said you saw nothing, you heard 

        16        nothing about RTLM when you were in Rwanda.  Now, after 

        17        you left Rwanda, surely you have heard and read articles 

        18        that have condemned RTLM for inciting to ethnic hatred.  

        19        Is that the position, or not?

        20   A.   Well, first of all, let me clarify the following.  I 

        21        said I did not often listen to RTLM, often listen to 

        22        RTLM, not often, because of where I lived.  That is the 

        23        first clarification I wish to provide.

        24             

        25        Now, to answer your question, I must say that really, I 

        26        have not read any paper that criticized the RTLM at the 

        27        time.

        28   Q.   Is that both before April 7 and after April 7?  April 6, 

        29        I mean.  You have not heard or read anything that 

        30        criticises RTLM before April 6 and after April 6?
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         1   A.   After the 6th of April I was not in Rwanda.

         2   Q.   I am asking if you have read anything or heard of 

         3        anything that criticizes RTLM?

         4   MS. ELLIS:

         5        Objection, for the record, on relevance.

         6   MS. KAGWI:

         7        Your Honour, this goes straight to the bias of the 

         8        witness.  So I am proceeding with my question

         9   BY MS. KAGWI:

        10   Q.   Are you going to answer?  Is it that you have never read 

        11        or heard anything that criticizes RTLM broadcast before 

        12        and after April 6?

        13   A.   With respect to national newspapers, I read nothing of 

        14        the sort after 1994.  In the newspapers that appear 

        15        where I live, I read criticisms that were levelled 

        16        against RTLM.

        17   Q.   Did you ever read -- no.  I withdraw that question. 

        18             

        19        Now, are you aware of an organization known as Ardevi 

        20        Tabara?

        21   A.   Ardevi Tabara?  If my recollection does not fail me, it 

        22        was a human rights organisation that deals with persons 

        23        displaced by war, if my recollection serves me right.

        24   Q.   And this organization, does your recollection show you 

        25        that Nahimana was in this organization?

        26   A.   I am not aware of whosoever was in the board of 

        27        directors, or whoever was a member.

        28   Q.   So you are not aware of a mission taken by this 

        29        organisation to Europe during the time you were in 

        30        Rwanda in 1993, are you?
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         1   A.   No.

         2   Q.   Are you aware that this organization was led by 

         3        Augustine Bizimana?

         4   A.   No.  I am saying that I didn't know who was in the board 

         5        of that organization.

         6   Q.   So I am asking you if you are aware that this 

         7        organization was led by Augustine Bizimana.  Are you 

         8        aware?

         9   MR. BIJU-DUVAL:

        10        He has already answered that question and he says "no." 

        11   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        12        Mr. Biju Duval, I have cautioned you about interrupting, 

        13        and the next time you do that we will sanction you.  

        14   BY MS. KAGWI:

        15   Q.   Are you aware that Captain Simbikangwa was a member of 

        16        this organization?

        17   A.   I said I am saying what I know about that organization, 

        18        and I am, therefore, saying that I wasn't sure.  I said 

        19        I don't know who were the members of the steering 

        20        committee or the board, and I also further said that I 

        21        didn't know who were the members of that organization.

        22   Q.   So your position is that you did not familiarize 

        23        yourself with the membership of this human rights 

        24        organization and its goals and objectives and what it 

        25        was doing?

        26   A.   In answering the first question that you put to me, I 

        27        did say that if my recollection serves me right, this 

        28        was an organization that took care of persons who had 

        29        been displaced by the war.  Of course, that contains 

        30        whatever any doubts in my mind.
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         1   Q.   Okay.  Now going back to RDR, you would agree that any 

         2        document that refuses to admit to a Tutsi genocide after 

         3        1994 would be ethnically biased, wouldn't you?

         4   A.   Could you repeat that question, please.

         5   Q.   You told the Court that RDR recognises the Tutsi 

         6        genocide and also a Hutu genocide.  Now I am asking you 

         7        this question.  You would agree with me that any 

         8        document after 1994 that denied the Tutsi genocide was 

         9        ethnically biased.  Is that correct?

        10   MS. ELLIS:

        11        Madam President, I know you wish us not to object, but I 

        12        am not sure how we deal with something where we have a 

        13        concern about the nature of the question, because we 

        14        have a duty to protect the interest of our client.  And, 

        15        for example, it seems to me, with the greatest respect, 

        16        that this is a question that can't properly be put to a 

        17        witness who isn't, firstly, a witness called as an 

        18        expert, and where the whole issue of the definition of 

        19        genocide is a matter for the Trial Chamber.  

        20        

        21        So I would like to object, but I don't want to find 

        22        myself sanctioned for looking after the interest of my 

        23        client.  So I respectfully raise this problem in this 

        24        way.

        25   MS. KAGWI:

        26        Your Honour, if I may.  This witness, when you look at 

        27        P-209, well you will understand why I state this, and he 

        28        did -- he has dealt with the issue of genocide before, 

        29        and he has gone towards the character of Nahimana 

        30        stating that he is not ethnically biased.  So it is my 
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         1        right to put this question to the witness.  Again, it 

         2        goes to bias.

         3   MADAM PRESIDENT:

         4        All right.  Did you get the question, Witness?  We would 

         5        like you to answer it.

         6   THE WITNESS:

         7        Yes.  To answer that question, let me say again that 

         8        RDR's position in connection with the tragedy that 

         9        occurred in Rwanda, that that position is quite clear.  

        10        RDR does recognise that there was genocide brought on 

        11        the Tutsi and on the Hutus.  That is the position of the 

        12        RDR in regard to that matter.

        13   BY MS. KAGWI:

        14   Q.   Now with respect, Witness, I was not asking you about 

        15        the position of the RDR which I put, myself, to you.  

        16        Now I am asking you that any document that denies the 

        17        Tutsi genocide would be ethnically biased, isn't it?

        18   MS. KAGWI:

        19        Your Honour, this is the question that you have allowed.  

        20        Could Counsel Ellis just let the witness answer the 

        21        question.

        22   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        23        We have allowed the question, but it's probably lost to 

        24        the witness because of the interruptions.

        25   MS. KAGWI:

        26        Your Honour, the witness is very intelligent; he is 

        27        smiling, and I know he has heard the question.

        28   MADAM PRESIDENT:

        29        We note you think he is very intelligent.  Very useful. 

        30             
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         1        Well, what do you think of statements or articles that 

         2        deny a genocide of the Tutsi?  And which I understand is 

         3        the question the Prosecution is putting to you.

         4   THE WITNESS:

         5        When we say RDR, that we recognise that there was 

         6        genocide in the case of the Tutsis, we are also saying 

         7        that any document that does not recognise that there was 

         8        that genocide, that that document is not valid as far as 

         9        we are concerned.

        10   BY MS. KAGWI:

        11   Q.   And may I add, would you also say that it is ethnically 

        12        biased if it just deals with what happens to the Hutus 

        13        and does not deal with what happened to the Tutsis?

        14   A.   If such a document recognizes the fact that there was 

        15        genocide against Tutsis and does not recognise that 

        16        there was genocide practiced on the Hutus we are saying 

        17        that that document would be incomplete.

        18   Q.   And if a document says that the genocide on the Tutsis 

        19        was presumed, that is not a correct position; that is 

        20        ethnically biased, isn't it?

        21   A.   A document which does not say, which does not recognise 

        22        genocide practiced on the Hutus and Tutsis, we don't 

        23        agree with it.

        24   Q.   Now, let's go back now to the formation of RDR.  Would 

        25        you agree with me that RDR is mainly a Rwanda Hutu 

        26        refugee organization; it started as one and continues to 

        27        be one?

        28   A.   I wouldn't say that.

        29   Q.   Do you have Tutsis in this organization?

        30   A.   I don't have the list of members.  I am not responsible 
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         1        for keeping the list of members.  But it may just happen 

         2        that there were Tutsis who are members of the 

         3        organization.

         4   Q.   Now, Witness, you have given us very clear evidence of 

         5        the Tutsis who were in your class -- Your Honour, I 

         6        strike that particular position.

         7             

         8        Of the Tutsis who are with you in several institutions 

         9        that you have been at, you give us even some of them the 

        10        fact that the mother was a Tutsi.  How is it that now 

        11        you cannot tell us whether members of the organization 

        12        in which you are a member, if you have Tutsis does that 

        13        not have -- is not that in your memory?  It's the most 

        14        recent and it should be, isn't it?

        15   A.   When we say that RDR is an organization that has 

        16        branches throughout the world in Africa, in America, in 

        17        Europe, you would then understand fully well that I 

        18        wouldn't have in my mind, I cannot have in my mind the 

        19        identity, as it were, of all these members.  If I say 

        20        that I was aware or I knew the identity of people with 

        21        whom I worked in various services, it was actually 

        22        because we were all together.  

        23        

        24        If I say, for instance, that at the university in my own 

        25        batch there were Tutsis, how would you want me not to 

        26        know the identity of someone with whom I spent five 

        27        years together?  Why wouldn't you want me to know his 

        28        identity?

        29   Q.   So remembering the piece of paper that you wrote for me, 

        30        is it still your position that no Tutsi comes to mind.  
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         1        The piece of paper that I asked you to write, no Tutsi 

         2        in your organization comes to mind?

         3   A.   None, none, at least in the country where I live.

         4   Q.   Okay.  Now RDR was formed on the 4th of April 1995, and 

         5        it was supported by 13 senior ex-FAR commanders.  That 

         6        is correct, isn't it?

         7   A.   I saw that document indicating support.

         8   Q.   It was also supported by the government in exile at the 

         9        time.  That's the position here?

        10   A.   I cannot confirm that one, because I didn't see any 

        11        document that would certify any such association.

        12   Q.   Now, it's correct that in early RDR, which was formed in 

        13        the refugee camps in Zaïre, the RDR at that time was 

        14        supporting the militia who were re-arming the 

        15        Interahamwe militia, who were rearming and undergoing 

        16        military training and attacking civilians in Rwanda.  

        17        That's the position, isn't it?

        18   A.   I cannot answer that question, because during the 

        19        formation I wasn't there.  During the formation I was in 

        20        Europe.  So I cannot, or I do not know what atmosphere 

        21        prevailed or what groups were initially associated with 

        22        that organization, because I wasn't there when it was 

        23        being formed and, therefore, I cannot answer that 

        24        question.

        25   Q.   But my question to you, Witness, is: As an intellectual 

        26        you do have a duty to acquaint yourself with the 

        27        background of an organization in which you choose to 

        28        become a member, isn't that true, especially an 

        29        important enough organization that deals with refugee 

        30        issues?
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         1   A.   Yes.  It is my duty to acquaint myself with the 

         2        background; however, I seek that information when I have 

         3        some idea in my mind.  Now that you have informed me I 

         4        am going to seek further information to know whether 

         5        that organization was operating in that way.  For now, I 

         6        can't answer the question.

         7   Q.   So, Witness, is it your position that you never heard of 

         8        anything of the sort that RDR was involved with this 

         9        Interahamwe militia who were re-arming and attacking 

        10        Rwanda?

        11   A.   I heard nothing of it.

        12   Q.   Even on international press you heard nothing?

        13   A.   No.

        14   JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:

        15        Witness, do you know the objectives of the RDR?

        16   THE WITNESS:

        17        Yes, I know the goals of the RDR.

        18   JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:

        19        Does the objectives of the RDR prevent a Tutsi from 

        20        becoming a member of RDR?

        21   THE WITNESS:

        22        Indeed not.  In fact, based on its slogan -- on its 

        23        motto, sorry, it talks about a people reconciled with 

        24        itself in a state governed by the rule of law.  Now, in 

        25        light of what had happened in Rwanda, one cannot talk 

        26        about reconciliation without there being the three 

        27        components that constitute the Rwandan society.  So RDR 

        28        is an all-inclusive organization, does not rule out 

        29        anyone.

        30   JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:
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         1        So you can't recall any person who is a member of the 

         2        RDR who is a Tutsi?

         3   THE WITNESS:

         4        As I just said, exclusion is not to be identified with 

         5        RDR.  RDR wants all the components, all segments of the 

         6        Rwandan society come together in order to together build 

         7        a state governed by the rule of law.

         8   JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:

         9        Does the RDR recognise refugees, that there are refugees 

        10        among the Tutsis as well? 

        11   THE WITNESS:

        12        But, of course, it does recognise that fact.

        13   JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:

        14        Yes.  Are there special objectives that discord the RDR 

        15        policies?

        16   THE WITNESS:

        17        When we talk about an all-inclusive organization, all 

        18        embracing organization, that does not take into account 

        19        ethnic or regional considerations.  That would mean any 

        20        and every Rwandan, irrespective of the region he comes 

        21        from, he or she comes from, irrespective of his or her 

        22        ethnic group is invited, is urged to join that 

        23        organization.  Of course, membership is voluntary.

        24   JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:

        25        That is not my question.  My question is: Are there 

        26        specific policies tailored to cover the needs of the 

        27        Tutsi refugees?

        28   THE WITNESS:

        29        I think I answered the question.  When I said that that 

        30        RDR sees a refugee as a human being, and that refugee as 
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         1        a human being is not subject to any distinction, any 

         2        discrimination.  So a Rwandan refugee, whether it be 

         3        Hutu or Tutsi who appears before the RDR, he would be 

         4        accepted.

         5   JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:

         6        Yes.  So that you hold a high rank in the organization?  

         7        Would you say that if there are Tutsi in this group, 

         8        this organisation?

         9   THE WITNESS:

        10        Well, I am saying that in the organization where I live, 

        11        where I reside, there are no Tutsis in the organization.  

        12        But it just might happen that in other areas because of 

        13        the position that I occupy, or the duty that I perform, 

        14        does not involve keeping the list or list of members, 

        15        and in view of the fact that this organization is open, 

        16        membership is open to any Rwandan who would want to 

        17        join.

        18   JUDGE GUNAWARDANA:

        19        Thank you.

        20   BY MS. KAGWI:

        21   Q.   Now, I want to show you an RDR document.  Could the 

        22        witness be given P-119, the French version, I think I 

        23        believe (A).

        24             

        25        Do you have the document? 

        26   A.   Yes, I have the document.

        27   Q.   Is this a document that you familiarise yourself with as 

        28        you join that particular organization?

        29   A.   This is the first time I am seeing this document.

        30   Q.   So yet despite the information you gave us on P-209, 
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         1        this is -- if you notice, this is the document of the 

         2        meeting that formed the RDR, isn't it?  You recognise 

         3        the names of all those who are participants, right?

         4   A.   Well, I am saying that for the names --

         5   Q.   Answer that question.  You recognise the names of the -- 

         6        the first page, the eleven names there, the people 

         7        present, you recognise their names, don't you?

         8   A.   Of course, I recognise them as Rwandans.

         9   Q.   Now number 5, do you know him personally?

        10   A.   I don't know what you mean by "personally."  I know him 

        11        as one who led RDR for some time.

        12        
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         1        1630H

         2   BY MS. KAGWI:

         3   Q.   What is his position now, in RDR?

         4   A.   Currently he is the commissioner for political affairs.

         5   Q.   Now, considering the information that you gave us in 

         6        P209, is this a person that you have met before and 

         7        talked to?

         8   A.   I don't understand your question.

         9   Q.   I'm asking you -- you gave us some information on a 

        10        piece of paper, you gave me some information.  Now, 

        11        considering the information that you gave me, can you 

        12        tell the Court whether this particular person, number 

        13        five, is a person you know and have spoken to before 

        14        coming into this Court?

        15   A.   I didn't talk to him before coming to testify here.

        16   Q.   Have you talked to him in the context of your membership 

        17        in this organisation?

        18   A.   When I joined the RDR, he was not the president.

        19   Q.   You have not answered my question.  Have you or have you 

        20        not talked to this man in the context of your membership 

        21        of this organisation?

        22   A.   No, I didn't talk to him about my joining or being a 

        23        member of that organisation.

        24   Q.   Witness, you are still not answering my question.  Have 

        25        you talked to him in the context of your membership in 

        26        this organisation?

        27   MS. ELLIS: Perhaps it could be rephrased because it's 

        28        certainly not clear in English what is meant if the 

        29        witness hasn't answered it.  Perhaps, Madam President, 

        30        it could be rephrased.
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         1   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, my question is very clear and the 

         2        English is very clear, and I'm sure the witness can 

         3        answer it.

         4   THE WITNESS: Well, what I have said is, you're referring to 

         5        number five on the list.  I talked about the position 

         6        that he occupied now, currently, and I said I did not 

         7        consult him with respect to my membership, my joining 

         8        that organisation, because when I joined the 

         9        organisation he was not the one who was president of the 

        10        organisation.

        11   BY MS. KAGWI:

        12   Q.   Now, have you ever had any conversation with this man?

        13   A.   Yes, of course I have had discussions with him.

        14   Q.   On a personal basis or on the basis of your membership 

        15        in this group?

        16   A.   I wouldn't say a membership.  I would rather say as part 

        17        of the smooth functioning of the organisation.

        18   Q.   So you did not ask this particular man about documents 

        19        regarding the formation of your RDR?

        20   A.   No.

        21   Q.   When is the last time you spoke to him?

        22   A.   Well, the last time I spoke to him was in early 

        23        November.

        24   Q.   Of which year, this year or last year?

        25   A.   This year.

        26   Q.   What was the context of your meeting?  Why did you --

        27   A.   It was during a meeting.

        28   Q.   Okay, number six, when was the last time you spoke to 

        29        him?

        30   A.   I last spoke to him in the middle of the month of the 
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         1        month of November 2002.

         2   Q.   What was the reason of your speaking to him?

         3   A.   Well, we met during a party and we talked to each other.

         4   Q.   Did you discuss this case with him?

         5   A.   We did not discuss politics.

         6   Q.   I did not talk about politics, I talked about this case.

         7   A.   We did not talk about this case.

         8   Q.   Now, number six, if you check on page 413 of the 

         9        document, can you see his position in that organisation?

        10   A.   What page?

        11   Q.   Page 413 or K0239675.

        12   A.   Yes.

        13   Q.   Are you aware that he held this position?  Were you 

        14        aware during your meeting that he held this position in 

        15        early RDR?

        16   A.   I didn't know, because it was the very first time I am 

        17        seeing this document.

        18   Q.   So, did you know of his membership in RDR?

        19   A.   I knew he was a member of the RDR, but I didn't know 

        20        that he occupied this position.

        21   Q.   Okay, now, move to page 414, the next page.  Can you see 

        22        the function that number six has?

        23   A.   Number six.

        24   Q.   Yes, Ndektimana (phonetic), can you see his functions in 

        25        RDR, paragraph 4?

        26   A.   Yes.

        27   Q.   So, in spite of him having this particular position, is 

        28        it your position that you did not discuss matters 

        29        concerning the beginning of RDR with him?

        30   A.   That's what I said.  That's what I said.
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         1   Q.   So, yet, this is yet another document that you are not 

         2        familiar with, despite your position, as you stated on 

         3        paper that I wrote.  That's correct, yes?

         4   A.   Yes, it's the second document that I am not familiar 

         5        with, because -- and I want to point out again that 

         6        these are documents that were published prior to my 

         7        joining of that organisation and I believe I also wrote 

         8        this on the piece of paper.  Most of this document is 

         9        not familiar to me.

        10   Q.   So, Witness, I put it to you that you are very selective 

        11        about the documents that you are familiar with.  Now, 

        12        I'm going to ask you a few questions, now, about the 

        13        university.  Now, the faculty of arts was, perhaps, the 

        14        smallest faculty in the university of, well, the joint 

        15        university of Butare or Ruhengeri; isn't that true?

        16   MS. ELLIS: Madam President, it shouldn't be necessary to go 

        17        into that comment to make a point.  Could we please ask 

        18        that part is dealt with under seal?

        19   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour as I stated this is getting a little 

        20        bit much.  They have constantly talked about his 

        21        presence in the university between certain periods.  I 

        22        have not mentioned at what stage he was there.  I've not 

        23        mentioned anything about what he was doing and what 

        24        stage he was there.  I've just asked a general question.  

        25        He should be able to answer it.

        26   MADAM PRESIDENT: Ms. Kagwi, a certain portion of the 

        27        witness's testimony was taken in closed session and if 

        28        it's any bit of your cross-examination then we -- you 

        29        will have to ask that some of your cross-examination be 

        30        dealt with in close.  This, you say, is a general 
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         1        question.  Tell me again, what is the question.

         2   MS. KAGWI: The faculty of arts was perhaps the smallest 

         3        faculty in the university, the joint university of 

         4        Butare and Ruhengeri, that's the question, very general.

         5   MADAM PRESIDENT: Witness F2, this is just a general question.  

         6        Are you in a position to answer that?

         7   THE WITNESS: Well, it is rather difficult to answer this 

         8        question because I don't have data on the students or 

         9        statistics on students and faculties of Butare.  These 

        10        are not just statistics that I have in mind, but what I 

        11        know is that on the Ruhengeri campus there were between 

        12        300 and 400 students when we entered the university, so 

        13        I cannot make any comparisons here because I don't have 

        14        statistics on the members of various faculties of the 

        15        Butare campus.

        16   BY MS. KAGWI:

        17   Q.   Now, okay, but it's okay for me to say it was a very 

        18        small faculty, yes?

        19   A.   That I'm not in a position to say.

        20   Q.   You had 300 to 400 students in the whole campus, that 

        21        would be a small one.

        22   MS. ELLIS: That's a comment.

        23   BY MS. KAGWI:

        24   Q.   Wouldn't it?  If it was 300 to 500 students, you can be 

        25        able to answer that.  You've been to several 

        26        institutions of learning, so you would know.

        27   A.   Yes, if I compare this to the University of Hamburg or 

        28        the University of Belgium it is, indeed, a very small 

        29        campus.

        30   Q.   I'm asking you to compare it to Butare, to Rwanda; it's 
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         1        the Rwanda situation I'm asking you about.

         2   MS. ELLIS: He's already answered that, Madam President.

         3   THE WITNESS: Yes, I said I couldn't make the comparison 

         4        because I do not know the number of students in the 

         5        Butare campus faculty.

         6   BY MS. KAGWI:

         7   Q.   Now, can you tell the Court, as people who were studying 

         8        in the arts, especially the historians, what type of job 

         9        did they expect when they left the university, what kind 

        10        of jobs were available to them?

        11   A.   They could go into various trades.  They could be 

        12        lecturers, teachers in secondary school.  They could be 

        13        journalists.  They could work in the public service, so 

        14        the professions they could go into were quite varied.

        15   Q.   But would you agree with me that the variation of the 

        16        kind of jobs that were available to them was smaller in 

        17        comparison to the other students who had chosen 

        18        different professions, say, that had to do with the 

        19        sciences?

        20   A.   Yes, we can say that.

        21   Q.   Would you also say that it was not very popular to be 

        22        taking the arts in Rwanda at that time, from the time 

        23        you were -- at some point or another -- at some point or 

        24        another at the university?  It wasn't very popular 

        25        amongst Rwandan students, the secondary students, to 

        26        want to go into the arts, especially when the job you 

        27        could get wasn't as varied?

        28   A.   I personally believe that in this area the choice is, in 

        29        a general manner, personal and it's a personal choice 

        30        that is based on a certain number of criteria.  If I 
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         1        complete my studies in the sciences with the possibility 

         2        of going into university to do the sciences, but if I 

         3        complete my studies in the sciences and I find myself or 

         4        I consider myself to be weak in math but strong in 

         5        French or in history or geography, I don't see why I 

         6        wouldn't go into the faculty of letters.

         7   Q.   Now, my question to you is based on your association 

         8        with that university.  You would not say that it was the 

         9        most popular faculty in the university, would you?

        10   A.   What do you mean by popular?

        11   Q.   Witness, I mean that most of the students were not dying 

        12        to get into that faculty.

        13   A.   I cannot agree with that assertion because we realise 

        14        that at the beginning, if there were only 300 to 400 

        15        students in the university it happened that in 1993, 

        16        when I left the university, the number of students had 

        17        already risen to more than a thousand students, which 

        18        means that the university was growing.

        19   Q.   I thought you told the Court that the faculty had 300 to 

        20        500 people, isn't (sic) it, when you were there?

        21   MS. ELLIS: "When I entered" was the quote.

        22   THE WITNESS: When I entered the university, that's what I 

        23        said.

        24   BY MS. KAGWI:

        25   Q.   And what I wanted you to tell the Court is perhaps you 

        26        can give us an estimate as to since you said as by the 

        27        time you were leaving it had risen to around 1,000, 

        28        wasn't this a general rise in all other campuses but the 

        29        Ruhengeri arts faculty remains the smallest?

        30   A.   Yes, small.  I continue to say or ask, in relation to 
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         1        what?  If it is in relation to the big universities it 

         2        was small.  If it was in relation to -- in comparison to 

         3        the faculty of the University of Rwanda, Butare campus, 

         4        I will not be in a position to answer because I don't 

         5        have any statistics.  But what we should bear in mind is 

         6        that by looking at the figures you will notice there was 

         7        an increase.

         8   Q.   Now, Witness, despite your long association with this 

         9        university you cannot tell the Court which was the 

        10        smallest faculty in the university; is that your 

        11        position?

        12   A.   Since I did not have statistics on the faculty of arts 

        13        it was not because I spent a lot of time at the 

        14        university.  It's true that I spent a lot of time there 

        15        but I wasn't interested in such statistics, particularly 

        16        statistics on faculty of the Butare campus.

        17   Q.   Now, will you tell the Court -- can you write down on a 

        18        piece of paper who --

        19   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, I think I will again withdraw that 

        20        question due to the witness's identity and perhaps ask 

        21        it differently. 

        22   BY MS. KAGWI:

        23   Q.   (By order of the Court this portion has been extracted 

        24        and filed under seal)

        25   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, I move to have that placed under 

        26        seal.

        27   MADAM PRESIDENT: Okay, now, that portion of the question will 

        28        be placed under seal.

        29   MS. KAGWI: Yes, thank you.

        30   MADAM PRESIDENT: Refer to the exhibit we have, that might be 
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         1        helpful.

         2   BY MS. KAGWI:

         3   Q.   Okay, now, Witness, it's true, isn't it, that the person 

         4        who was top in the class was normally recruited to be an 

         5        assistant lecturer, isn't it?  That was the normal 

         6        position, isn't it?

         7   A.   Yes, those were the functions he discharged.  Yes, that 

         8        is what was done at the time.

         9   Q.   And was this done for the top student in your class?

        10   A.   I have just said that that was the practice at the time, 

        11        in principle, but there was another factor which was, 

        12        this time around, personal.  As a matter of fact, 

        13        teaching is a vocation and you can like it or not like 

        14        it.  This means that apart from this note that was 

        15        taken -- and the marks that were taken into account 

        16        there were also aspects relating to the availability of 

        17        the candidate to handle that job.

        18   Q.   Now, you stated that you know very well the person who 

        19        was the top in your class, you know this woman very 

        20        well.  Is it your position that she was not available 

        21        and not willing to become an assistant lecturer?  Is 

        22        that your testimony before the Court?

        23   A.   I would say that she wasn't interested, because, as I 

        24        pointed out earlier, I was contacted by the head of the 

        25        department.

        26   Q.   Now, who is the head of the --

        27   MS. ELLIS: Madam President, before we move on, the documents 

        28        we've all looked at do show that that person was not 

        29        first in the class but third, so the record should be 

        30        correct, because Ms. Kagwi has misstated the evidence.
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         1   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour, I should have added first in regard 

         2        to Mr. Nahimana's marking.

         3   MADAM PRESIDENT: Why didn't you add that then, she's one of 

         4        the top three students I believe that's what the exhibit 

         5        shows.

         6   BY MS. KAGWI:

         7   Q.   So, now, you were not amongst the top three, were you?

         8   A.   I was not among the top three students, but I have just 

         9        said that there was this other fact.  There was the 

        10        factor regarding marks.  There was the criterion 

        11        regarding whether or not you were prepared or available 

        12        to exercise duties, and then there was the aspect of 

        13        conduct.  When this candidate entered the university -- 

        14        because if I remember correctly, I said that already in 

        15        the -- it is during a certain period I worked with the 

        16        head of the department in the section for oral 

        17        tradition, so there wasn't only one criterion on which 

        18        the authorities base themselves to hire somebody at the 

        19        university.  There were many factors.

        20   Q.   But I put it to you that a person like Alphonsine 

        21        Kabagabo  was interested in becoming an assistant 

        22        lecturer.

        23   MS. ELLIS: Madam President, before that question is dealt 

        24        with does Ms. Kagwi have any evidence of that and if so, 

        25        please, may we have that?  You can't put something as a 

        26        fact unless you have evidence to that effect.

        27   MS. KAGWI: Your Honour.

        28   MADAM PRESIDENT: Witness, do you agree that this woman 

        29        student did have the qualification to become an 

        30        assistant lecturer?

                              ICTR - TRIAL CHAMBER I

                                       120

          NAHIMANA ET AL                                  10 DECEMBER 2002

         1   THE WITNESS: Well, if we take into consideration the 

         2        criterion regarding marks there, the criterion was 

         3        correct, but I have just said that there were other 

         4        criteria; and I believe that these criteria were not met 

         5        by her, because she was not contacted by the head of 

         6        department who was authorised to recruit staff.

         7   MADAM PRESIDENT: Was any other student in that class 

         8        recruited for the position?

         9   THE WITNESS: ...
        10        ...
        11        ...
        12   MADAM PRESIDENT: Ms. Kagwi, we are going to stop now.

        13   MS. ELLIS: Madam President, before we stop -- sorry.

        14   MADAM PRESIDENT: Witness F2, we are going to stop now, but 

        15        you did ask for an opportunity to read a document that 

        16        was put to you.  So Mr. Matemanga will give you that 

        17        document and you will have the opportunity to read it 

        18        overnight.  We will not mention the title of the 

        19        document or the author.   Mr. Matemanga, where is this 

        20        document, is it in front of the witness?  Yes, so you 

        21        may take that with you.  

        22        

        23        Ms. Ellis.

        24   MS. ELLIS: Madam President, we are concerned with the way in 

        25        which Ms. Kagwi has been posing her last few questions 

        26        has made it very easy to have an understanding of the 

        27        witness's identity, so we would ask that the last series 

        28        of questions also go under seal.  I don't know why it's 

        29        proving quite so difficult for the Prosecution.  I don't 

        30        just spell it out to make matters even worse, but there 
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         1        seems to be --

         2   MADAM PRESIDENT: The last few questions and answers will be 

         3        placed under seal.  The Chamber will resume at 9 a.m. 

         4        tomorrow.  How long do you expect to be Ms. Kagwi?

         5   MS. KAGWI: Two hours, perhaps, or less. 

         6   MR. MARTEL: Madam President, before you adjourn, would it be 

         7        possible to know now whether I would be given time to 

         8        meet my client tomorrow?

         9   MADAM PRESIDENT: How much time would you require?

        10   MR. NGEZE: We are ready.  We don't need any time.

        11    MR. MARTEL: My client was asking for one and a half days and 

        12        now he doesn't want any more time so we'll just move on.  

        13        We'll just proceed.

        14   MADAM PRESIDENT: What do you think, Mr. Martel, would you 

        15        need time?

        16   MR. MARTEL: If I could, at the very least, check on some of 

        17        the things that appear in Kinyarwanda in the documents 

        18        given to me, maybe just before noon, the period before 

        19        noon, so that I can discuss the matter with my client.  

        20        If he has nothing to say to me of course I will serve 

        21        notice on the Chamber.

        22   MADAM PRESIDENT: Then if Prosecution needs two hours tomorrow 

        23        that should take them until the 11 a.m. break then we 

        24        can take a longer break depending on the time that you 

        25        need for consultation.

        26   MR. MARTEL: That's convenient for me, suitable.

        27   MADAM PRESIDENT: Witness F2, as usual I wish to caution you 

        28        not to discuss your testimony with anyone, because you 

        29        are in the midst of your evidence. 

        30        
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         1   THE WITNESS: I shall comply.

         2   MADAM PRESIDENT: Court is adjourned.

         3        (Court adjourned at 1704H)

         4        (Pages 111 to 123 by R. Lear)
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